From the Department of Biosciences and Nutrition Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

PRIMARY CILIA IN HUMAN NEURON DIFFERENTIATION

Andrea Coschiera



Stockholm 2024

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet.

Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB, 2024

© Andrea Coschiera, 2024

ISBN 978-91-8017-233-2

Cover illustration: Made by the author. Immunohistochemistry of a human forebrain cortical organoid section. Primary cilia are displayed in green, neurite networks in red, and nuclei in blue.

Primary cilia in human neuron differentiation Thesis for Doctoral Degree (Ph.D.)

By

Andrea Coschiera

The thesis will be defended in public at Lecture Hall 9Q Månen, Alfred Nobels Allé 8, Huddinge, on Monday the 3^{rd} of June 2024, at 9:30.

Principal Supervisor: Assoc. Prof. Peter Swoboda Karolinska Institutet Department of Biosciences and Nutrition

Co-supervisor: Prof. Juha Kere Karolinska Institutet Department of Biosciences and Nutrition **Opponent:** Dr. Murielle Saade Molecular Biology Institute of Barcelona Department of Cells and Tissues

Examination Board: Assoc. Prof. Jens Hjerling-Leffler Karolinska Institutet Department of Medical Biochemistry and Biophysics

Prof. Anna Herland KTH Royal Institute of Technology Department of Protein Science

Assoc. Prof. Anna Forsby Stockholm University Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics

"We see with the eyes, but we see with the brain as well. And seeing with the brain is often called imagination."

- Oliver Sacks

Popular science summary of the thesis

Imagine neurons composing the brain as houses we live in. In terms of size, the brain is much bigger and can represent our whole planet. How do we communicate with our neighbors and friends living abroad? Cells, of course, have the answer and build their own rooftop antennae!

Our body is made up of building blocks known as proteins. Every cell contains the same basic language alphabet (DNA) that, once deciphered, produces proteins. However, different body tissues slightly modify this translation based on their specific needs. Communication is a fundamental feature of every living organism, and it is the way we obtain most types of information to increase our knowledge and develop as individuals.

So, what are cilia? Cilia (plural of cilium) are single or multiple hair-like appendages extending from the cell surface. For example, sperm use their cilium (also called flagellum) to move, while other cells use multiple cilia to direct the circulation of biological fluids. Most human cells extend cilia, but here we are exclusively interested in one lesser-known type expressed as a single unit per cell, called the primary cilium. Primary cilia are involved in cell-to-cell communication and, within the brain, in nervous system development. Like TV or radio antennae, cilia can catch signals from the outside and send that information to the cell to affect its behavior and response. A wide range of signals in our body represents that information, including light, odors, hormones, and more generally, proteins. By now, you have probably noticed that cilia act as call centers to keep updating the cells on what happens in the outside world. When a problem occurs in cilia (which can cause a disease class called ciliopathy), cells lose their GPS navigator, which may cause malfunction of several body organs.

Because of the presence of synapses, the neuronal smartphones more efficient and cooler than outdated antennae, primary cilia have been overlooked for a very long time, and their function underestimated. But, as often happens in sports, these "underdogs" of cellular organelles quickly moved "from zero to hero" as soon as their real roles were revealed. Cilia were found essential to regulate several aspects of neuronal growth characteristics before the establishment of synapses, helping neurons develop their "limbs" (axons and dendrites) and directing their journey toward their final workplaces during brain formation. However, a precise and accurate knowledge of the tasks of cilia is still missing, including a model where it is possible to follow every step of human neuron development from birth to complete maturation.

In **Paper I**, we present an advanced human neuronal cell culture tool where neurons become adults in just a week and extend cilia at every single stage of development. In **Paper II**, we use that tool to implement the current knowledge on why, when, and how cilia are needed. We found cilia to be necessary for directing neuronal growth (axon development), like a construction site supervisor, and to orchestrate it by setting the right tempo, like a metronome, after neuronal birth. Finally, in **Paper III**, we use the same tool again to provide a survey of DNA codes used by the brain to translate DNA in neurons, thereby to better understand the development of neurons and the brain.

In conclusion, we have demonstrated the significance of cilia during human neurodevelopment in precise manner, and we have provided instructions akin to the Rosetta Stone for deciphering the complexities of the human system. Based on recent studies, globally, about three hundred million people suffer from neurodevelopmental disorders. Our discoveries strengthen and will facilitate the understanding of how cilia dysfunction is involved in common diseases like autism, schizophrenia, and dyslexia, with the final goal of developing effective therapies to successfully fight against them in the near future.

Abstract

Primary (non-motile) cilia have long been overlooked, considered vestigial organelles lacking specific functions. In humans, all cell types except sperm, ependymal and bronchial epithelial cells, and oviduct cells extend a single primary cilium. However, it was not until the 1990s that cilia garnered significant interest in biomedical research. Cilia serve as cellular sensors for various stimuli, including mechanical, light, osmotic, and chemoreceptive cues. Their ability to detect, integrate, and transmit external information to the cell is essential for cell signaling, development, and tissue homeostasis.

Among ciliary signaling pathways, the WNT pathway is evolutionarily conserved and regulates crucial aspects of organ patterning, cell proliferation, migration, and fate determination during embryogenesis. Not surprisingly, genetic mutations in WNT pathway-related proteins have been linked to several diseases and different types of cancer.

Alterations in cilia function may lead to the onset of a heterogeneous group of genetic conditions called ciliopathies. Given that cilia are nearly ubiquitous organelles, ciliopathies may affect multiple organs, including the brain. So far, dysfunction of cilia has also been implicated in a spectrum of complex neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) such as autism, schizophrenia, and dyslexia.

In **Paper I**, we established an advanced human neuronal ciliated cell model using Lund human mesencephalic (LUHMES) cells. These cells can differentiate into mature neurons in just about a week of culture, and they exhibit ciliation throughout the proliferative, differentiation, and fully differentiated phases. This *in vitro* cell model shared a high gene expression profile similarity with *in vivo* neuronal transcriptomes from humans. LUHMES neuronal cilia were shown to functionally transduce the well-known ciliary Sonic hedgehog (SHH) signaling pathway by regulating its target gene expression.

In **Paper II** we used the LUHMES cell model to explore the role of cilia during human neuron differentiation. Based on a dynamic differentiation ciliation pattern, we identified the functional ciliary time window and found cilia to be relevant in promoting axon outgrowth and branching. Furthermore, we generated a stable LUHMES mutant model for the ciliogenic transcription factor RFX2 and performed transient knockdowns (KDs) of essential ciliary genes *IFT88* and *IFT172*. LUHMES *RFX2 –/–, IFT88* KD and *IFT172* KD neurons were not as efficient as WT counterparts in promoting the same aspects of neuron differentiation. Altered *RFX2 –/–* cilia showed deregulation of the ciliary WNT signaling pathway and subsequent cytoskeleton rearrangement required for proper neuron differentiation.

In **Paper III**, we provided an extensive compendium of how neuron differentiation is molecularly regulated. By analyzing enhancer RNAs (eRNAs) using the native elongating transcript-cap analysis of gene expression (NET-CAGE) method, we revealed nearly triple the number of new LUHMES enhancers important for neuron differentiation, as compared to what was previously known. Our analysis also showed enrichment of active enhancers among certain NDDs, including neuropsychiatric disorders. We employed capture Hi-C (HiCap) to locate target genes through promoter-enhancer interaction. Interestingly, the binding motifs of ciliogenic RFX transcription factors and the transcriptional complex activated by WNT signaling were enriched in both promoter and enhancer sequences.

Altogether, we elucidated strong implications of cilia in neuron differentiation at the cellular level unveiling a critical ciliary time window, and at the molecular level, describing the regulatory machinery promoting neuron differentiation. We speculate that cilia play an essential role in neuron maturation and brain formation, underpinning the biogenesis of aspects of certain neurodevelopmental conditions when their function is disrupted.

List of scientific papers

- I. Lauter G.*, <u>Coschiera A.</u>*, Yoshihara M., Sugiaman–Trapman D., Ezer S., Sethurathinam S., Katayama S., Kere J., Swoboda P. **Differentiation** of ciliated human midbrain–derived LUHMES neurons. *Journal of Cell Science*. 2020 Nov 9;133(21):jcs249789.
- II. <u>Coschiera A.</u>*, Yoshihara M.*, Lauter G., Ezer S., Pucci M., Li H., Kavšek A., Riedel C. G., Kere J., Swoboda P. Primary cilia promote the differentiation of human neurons through the WNT signaling pathway. *BMC Biology*. 2024 Feb 27;22:48.
- III. Yoshihara M.*, <u>Coschiera A.</u>*, Bachmann J.*, Pucci M., Li H., Bhagat S., Murakawa Y., Weltner J., Jouhilahti E.-M., Swoboda, P., Sahlén P., Kere J. Transcriptional enhancers in human neuronal differentiation provide clues to neuropsychiatric disorders. *Manuscript*.

*Equal contribution - joint first authorship

Scientific paper not included in the thesis

<u>Coschiera A.</u>, Watts M. E., Kere J., Tammimies K., Swoboda P. **Human LUHMES and NES cells as models for studying primary cilia in neurons**. *Methods in Cell Biology*. 2023 Jan 28;176:27–41.

Contents

1	Intro	oducti	on	1
	1.1	NEURODEVELOPMENT		
		1.1.1	Neurogenesis	1
		1.1.2	Neuron migration	2
		1.1.3	Neuron differentiation	2
	1.2	PRIMARY CILIA		
		1.2.1	Structure and function	4
		1.2.2	Cilia-mediated WNT signaling pathway	6
	1.3	CILIA IN NEURODEVELOPMENT		
		1.3.1	Cilia in neurogenesis	8
		1.3.2	Cilia in neuron migration	9
		1.3.3	Cilia in neuron differentiation	11
		1.3.4	Ciliopathies and neurodevelopmental disorders	12
	1.4	GENE	REGULATION OF THE NONCODING HUMAN GENOME	12
		1.4.1	Promoters and enhancers	12
2	Res	earch a	aims	15
3	Met	hodolo	ogical considerations	17
	3.1	CELL	CULTURES	17
	3.2	GENE	TIC MANIPULATION OF LUHMES CELLS	19
		3.2.1	CRISPR/Cas9 gene knockout	19
		3.2.2	siRNA-mediated gene silencing	19
	3.3	IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY AND CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY2		
	3.4	MODULATION OF CILIARY SIGNALING PATHWAYS		
	3.5	TRAN	SCRIPTOME ANALYSIS BY RNA-SEQUENCING	22
		3.5.1	STRT and CAGE	22
		3.5.2	NET-CAGE	23
	3.6	PROM	10TER-ENHANCER INTERACTIONS ANALYSIS	24
		3.6.1	НіСар	24
		3.6.2	Validation of promoter-enhancer interactions by CRISPRa	25
	3.7	ETHIC	AL CONSIDERATIONS	25
4	Res	ults		27
	4.1 Paper I: LUHMES-derived neurons as model to study human			
		neuronal cilia		
	4.2	Paper II: Cilia-mediated switch from canonical to non-canonical		
		WNT signaling promotes axon differentiation of human neurons		

	4.3 Paper III: Transcriptional landscape of human		
		neurodevelopment	
5	Disc	cussion and future perspectives	
6	Ack	nowledgements	41
7	Refe	erences	

List of abbreviations

AKT	Protein kinase B
AP-1	Activator protein-1
APC	Adenomatous polyposis coli
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
ATF	Activating transcription factor
BBS	Bardet-Biedl syndrome
bp	Base pairs
CAGE	Cap analysis of gene expression
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CK1α	Casein kinase 1 alpha
СР	Cortical plate
CRISPRa	CRISPR activation
DBD	DNA binding domain
dCas9	Dead Cas9
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DVL	Dishevelled
eRNA	Enhancer RNA
FZD	Frizzled
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
GSK-3β	Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta
GWAS	Genome-wide association studies
H3K27ac	Histone 3 lysine 27 acetylation
H3K4me	Histone 3 lysine 4 methylation
Hi-C	High-throughput chromosome conformation capture
HiCap	Capture Hi-C
HN	Human neurons

hTERT RPE-1	Human telomerase reverse transcriptase - retinal pigment epithelial cell-1		
IFT	Intraflagellar transport		
INPP5E	Inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase E		
JNK	Rac1/c-Jun kinase		
KD	Knockdown		
LRP	Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein		
LSCM	Laser scanning confocal microscopes		
LUHMES	Lund human mesencephalic (cell line)		
MAP	Microtubule-associated protein		
MESC2.10	Human mesencephalic cell line		
MTOC	Microtubule-organizing center		
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin		
NDD	Neurodevelopmental disorder		
NES	Neuroepithelial stem cell		
NET-CAGE	Native elongating transcript-cap analysis of gene expression		
NPC	Neural progenitor cell		
NPHP	Nephronophthisis		
PCP	Planar cell polarity		
PI3K	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase		
РКА	Protein kinase A		
qRT-PCR	Quantitative reverse transcription PCR		
RFX	Regulatory factor X		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
ROCK	Rho-associated kinase		
ROR	Tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor		
SAG	Smoothened agonist		
SDCM	Spinning disk confocal microscope		

SHH	Sonic hedgehog
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
STRT	Single-cell tagged reverse transcription
SVZ	Subventricular zone
TCF/LEF	T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancing factor
TEM	Transmission electron microscopy
TF	Transcription factor
TFE	Transcript far end
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-beta
TSS	Transcription start site
VZ	Ventricular zone
WB	Western blot
WNT	Wingless/integrated

1 Introduction

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDDs) encompass a broad group of neuropsychiatric conditions that predominantly manifest during childhood, characterized by intellectual, linguistic, and/or behavioral disturbances. The complex interplay between genetic and environmental factors complicates our understanding of the neurobiology underlying NDDs.

Given that NDDs often involve brain malformations, the observation of neurological features in certain ciliopathies prompted an in-depth investigation into cilia function and structure in other brain-related non-ciliopathy disorders. Among these, dyslexia stands out as one of the most genetically well-defined NDDs. Dyslexia candidate genes were initially identified as important in controlling neuron migration, axonal and dendritic guidance (Kere, 2011), processes in which cilia were later discovered to play an essential role. Moreover, the presence of certain NDD candidate proteins has been detected at the cilium (Massinen et al., 2011; Chandrasekar et al., 2013), and their gene expression was shown to be regulated by the family of ciliogenic RFX transcription factors (Tammimies et al., 2016). Genetic variations examined through genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have confirmed an overrepresentation of ciliary genes in NDDs, supporting a causal relationship between cilia and neuron maturation defects associated with NDDs (Karalis et al., 2022).

1.1 NEURODEVELOPMENT

1.1.1 Neurogenesis

Neurogenesis is the process by which all neurons of the nervous system originate (see **Figure 1**). It is mainly active during embryogenesis, following the bending of the ectodermal neural plate into the neural tube and the formation of the three primary vesicles (forebrain, midbrain, hindbrain). The ventricular zone of the neural tube consists of highly proliferative multipotent immature cells (neural stem cells) that undergo asymmetric cell divisions, generating another stem cell and a new specialized cell based on environmental stimuli (see **Figure 2A**). The main function of neurogenesis is, therefore, to produce, on a large scale, the entire neuronal (and glial) population composing the adult brain.



Figure 1: Schematic representation of neurogenesis progression from pluripotent to unipotent LUHMES-like neuronal precursor cells.

1.1.2 Neuron migration

Neurogenesis is followed by neuron migration. Specialized cells derived from asymmetrical neural stem cell divisions progressively lose their potency and proliferative abilities until they become postmitotic neuroblasts. Neuroblasts are polarized, undifferentiated cells of neuronal lineage that begin to leave the proliferative ventricular zone to reach their final destination in the cortical plate, completing the formation of the brain cortex. Neuron migration is defined as 'saltatory' due to the intermittent and non-steady cell movement, occurring either radially or tangentially to the ventricular zone based on the parallel or perpendicular transit of the cell, respectively. To achieve this, neuroblasts extend immature neurite-like projections to crawl along a supporting physical scaffold represented by radial glial cells: the leading process marks the direction of migration and will develop into future dendrites, while the trailing process is a short rear process that aids migration and will develop into the future axon.

1.1.3 Neuron differentiation

Upon reaching their final location, neuroblasts continue the differentiation process into neurons that began after becoming postmitotic cells. Neuron differentiation is staged based on morphological and functional maturation. After permanently exiting the cell cycle, newly born neurons begin to protrude a highly dynamic and specialized actin filament (F-actin)-based structure called the growth cone, along with neuron polarization and axon formation/specification processes (stage 1). The growth cone is important for guiding and supporting the initial uniform extension of two opposite and distinct neuron processes (stage 2 or the bipolar stage). Subsequently, a single neurite (future axon) outgrows the opposite process (future dendrites), breaking the previously established bipolar symmetry (stage 3). Once the axon is determined and further developed (axon branching/arborization), neurons begin to form and refine dendrites and dendritic spines, ultimately leading to the final formation of functional synapses (stages 4 and 5) (Meka et al., 2020) (see **Figure 2B**).

All the anatomical changes described above during neurodevelopmental steps require massive and continuous cytoskeleton rearrangement, particularly of Factin and microtubule elements, which actively interact. Although stage 2 bipolar neurites may appear morphologically similar, they already exhibit profound structural and molecular differences (Lasser et al., 2018). The microtubules invading the growth cone of the future axon display the same plus-end distal orientation towards the cell body, collected in parallel bundles further stabilized by microtubule-associated proteins (MAPs) and post-translational modifications (acetylation, detyrosination), consistent with the axon function as the main neurite and neuronal transporter. In contrast, the conformation of microtubules in future dendrites is more unstable and dynamic, with enrichment of mixed plus/minusend oriented microtubules (mostly deacetylated and tyrosinated) and expression of different MAPs and unmodified microtubule domains (Baas et al., 2016). These differences contribute to the elongation and outgrowth of the future axon compared to the opposite neurite. Not surprisingly, alterations in cytoskeletonrelated proteins may severely affect neuron differentiation and underlie neurodevelopmental disorders (Lasser et al., 2018).

A combination of intrinsic and extrinsic factors regulates the breakage of bipolar symmetry of stage 2 neurons. Among intrinsic mechanisms, the centrosome (microtubule-organizing center of the cell; MTOC) and the colocalizing Golgi apparatus play a critical role. While both organelles can nucleate microtubules, the Golgi is also relevant for sorting the cargo transported along neurites, specifying the structure of the future axon. Moreover, future axon outgrowth is determined by centrosome-mediated F-actin flow (Meka et al., 2020) and growth cone F-actin dynamics, which, in turn, interact with stable microtubules, leading to neurite elongation (Zhao et al., 2017). Extrinsic factors also play an essential role in promoting the transition from neuronal stage 2 to stage 3. Specifically, the future axon is guided by families of attractor (netrins) and repulsor (semaphorins) molecules. However, a clear understanding of this complex mechanism and the contribution of all components is still under debate.



Figure 2: **(A)** Overview of the neuron differentiation "journey" from proliferative progenitors in the ventricular (VZ) and subventricular zones (SVZ) to differentiating/differentiated neurons in the cortical plate (CP) (adapted from Postel et al., 2019). **(B)** Progressive differentiation stages of postmitotic neurons (from Paper II, Figure 1A).

1.2 PRIMARY CILIA

1.2.1 Structure and function

Cilia can be grouped into two types: primary (sensory) cilia and motile cilia. Primary cilia are non-motile hair-like appendages protruding from cell surfaces as a single unit. They act as cellular antennae mainly involved in signal transduction and cell-to-cell communication, detecting molecules from the immediate extracellular environment, and transmitting signals outside the ciliary compartment (see **Figure 3**).

Cilia arise from a modified mother centriole (basal body), which is also a component of the centrosome. The cilia core structure, called axoneme, is composed of bundles of microtubule doublets displaying the common 9+0 organization. Cilia are anchored to the cell in the ciliary pocket due to plasma membrane invagination harboring the transition zone with Y-shaped connecting fibers. This domain represents the ciliary gate controlling the entry/exit of ciliary proteins and, consequently, ciliary trafficking and composition. Another essential ciliary component for trafficking and homeostasis is the Bardet-Biedl syndrome (BBS) protein complex, which recognizes cargo and transmembrane signaling proteins. Thus, the BBSome, together with the transition zone, accurately selects the cargo transported by the intraflagellar transport (IFT) protein machinery along the axoneme from the ciliary base to the tip (IFT-B including kinesin motor

proteins, in the anterograde direction) and from the tip to the base (IFT-A including dynein motor proteins, in the retrograde direction). As a result, the ciliary membrane composition makes the ciliary compartment extremely distinct and functionally specialized compared to the contiguous plasma membrane (Mukhopadhyay et al., 2017).

The biogenesis of primary cilia is controlled by the regulatory factor X (RFX) family of transcription factors (TFs), which also interplay and interact with the motile ciliogenesis regulator FOXJ1. RFX TFs possess an evolutionarily conserved DNA binding domain (DBD) that recognizes specific genomic sequences called X-box motifs. In humans, eight RFX TFs have been characterized, and notably, RFX1-4 and RFX7 are expressed in brain and spinal cord tissues (Sugiaman-Trapman et al., 2018). A more detailed description of their specific and redundant functions is still lacking.

Cilia serve as a major signaling hub of the cell, harboring a wide variety of signaling molecules that bind to external cues and activate signaling cascades, amplifying, and transducing information to affect cellular gene expression in response to stimuli. Many signaling molecules functioning at and localizing to the cilium are connected to crucial pathways involved in the regulation of developmental and homeostasis processes, including the wingless/integrated (WNT), Sonic hedgehog (SHH), Notch, G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR), mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), and Hippo pathways (Wheway et al., 2018).



Figure 3: Simplified representation of cilium structure consisting of centriolar basal body, transition zone and microtubule doublets-based axoneme. The IFT machinery with kinesin motor proteins moves the cargo in anterograde direction to the ciliary tip (IFT-B) and retrograde direction to the base with dynein motor proteins (IFT-A) (Lai and Jiang, 2020).

1.2.2 Cilia-mediated WNT signaling pathway

WNT signaling is highly evolutionarily conserved with critical roles during embryonic development, affecting cell proliferation, migration, and differentiation. It is characterized by one canonical pathway, dependent on the main mediator β -catenin, and two non-canonical pathways, β -catenin independent: the WNT/planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway, important for regulating cytoskeleton remodeling and cell morphology, and the WNT/Ca2+ pathway, important for regulating intracellular calcium levels (Arredondo et al., 2020). All pathways are activated by the binding between transmembrane Frizzled (FZD) receptors of the G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) family and different Wnt protein ligands, totaling nineteen Wnt proteins identified in humans (Willert and Nusse, 2012).

β-catenin, besides being the main activator of the canonical WNT pathway (see **Figure 4A**), also plays a crucial role in stabilizing the cytoskeleton and intercellular tight junctions. In the absence of Wnt ligands, the β-catenin destruction complex

is assembled and activated. It includes four main components: the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) protein, which marks β -catenin for degradation; the two kinases glycogen synthase 3 beta (GSK-3 β) and casein 1 alpha (CK1 α), which phosphorylate β -catenin; and the Axin scaffold protein, which assembles the complex. Once β -catenin is phosphorylated and inactivated, it is targeted to the ubiquitin-proteasome system for degradation. In the presence of canonical ligands, Wnt binds to the FZD receptor and co-receptor low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6), causing the recruitment of the destruction complex to the plasma membrane and its inactivation by the Dishevelled (DVL) protein. As a result, active non-phosphorylated β -catenin can accumulate in the cytoplasm and translocate to the nucleus. β -catenin cannot directly bind to DNA; therefore, it acts as a coactivator for the transcription factor families T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancing factor (TCF/LEF) to induce cellular responses via gene expression regulation (Colozza and Koo, 2021).

The non-canonical PCP WNT pathway is β -catenin independent and uses other co-receptors than LRP5/6, such as receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1/2 (ROR1/2) (see **Figure 4B-C**). Following non-canonical stimuli, DVL is recruited to start the signaling cascade of Rho-associated kinase (ROCK) and Rac1/c-Jun kinase (JNK) pathways, which are major regulators of cytoskeleton and cell morphology. In particular, Rac1/JNK signaling leads to the activation of the activating protein-1 (AP-1) transcription factors complex, including subunits Fos, Jun, and activating transcription factor (ATF) (van Amerongen, 2012).

Considering that both canonical and non-canonical WNT pathways are simultaneously active, cells can modulate their activity by increasing or decreasing the expression of specific endogenous WNTs, assembling cilia, or both. Cilia have been found to be important for finely tuning this balance by decreasing canonical activation in favor of the non-canonical one (Lee, 2020). Thus, several ciliary protein complexes, localizing at the transition zone and basal body, including nephronophthisis (NPHP) components, interact with the proteasome to promote DVL and β -catenin ubiquitin-mediated degradation. However, a clear understanding of the actual role of cilia in regulating this process is still lacking, partly due to controversial findings obtained in different *in vitro* and *in vivo* models where canonical activation does not always appear to be affected when cilia are mutated (Anvarian et al., 2019).



Figure 4: The primary cilium finely tunes the WNT signaling pathway to promote a switch in balance from canonical to non-canonical activation. (A) Illustration of the canonical WNT/ β -catenin signaling cascade in a non-ciliated cell in the presence (green) or absence (red) of a WNT ligand. (B) In the presence of functional cilia, the ciliary nephronophthisis (NPHP) protein complex partially mediates DVL degradation, reducing its inhibition on the destruction complex activity and leading to β -catenin cytoplasmic accumulation. As a result, canonical WNT activation is diminished in favor of non-canonical PCP pathway activity, leading to cytoskeleton remodeling. (C) When cilia are mutated, DVL proteins are not degraded and are recruited to the plasma membrane, where they fully inactivate the destruction complex, resembling cytoplasmic β -catenin accumulation and consequent canonical WNT activation of non-ciliated cells. Therefore, the balance between canonical and non-canonical activation is no longer affected, potentially impairing PCP-mediated cytoskeleton rearrangement (adapted from Paper II, Supplementary Figure S7).

1.3 CILIA IN NEURODEVELOPMENT

1.3.1 Cilia in neurogenesis

The ventricular zone of the folded neural tube is composed of layers of stem cells that project cilia into the neural tube lumen, which is rich in morphogens such as WNT and SHH. Morphogen distribution follows non-uniform concentration gradients, and their detection by cilia is critical to instruct the cell and govern the spatiotemporal patterning and tissue development (Lepanto et al., 2016).

Although primary cilia are non-motile organelles, their formation and presence are extremely dynamic and transient in highly proliferative cell types due to the double function of centrioles. Centrioles can either represent the ciliary basal body or, as part of the centrosome, produce mitotic spindle microtubules during cell divisions. Thus, cilia can only be assembled during the GO/G1 phases before being disassembled during the S/G2 phases preceding mitosis. However, the cilium does not get completely disassembled, remaining as a residual ciliary membrane on the mother centriole. The cell inheriting the membrane remnant will more likely maintain stem cell proliferative ability, being more conveniently re-extended to be quickly operative, unlike the sister cell, which will undergo the differentiation process and detach from the neuroepithelium (Paridaen et al., 2013).

Further evidence of the importance of cilia in neurogenesis regulation has been shown following the conditional cilia ablation from the cell, resulting in increased proliferation activity and a reserve of progenitor population at the expense of neuron production, in connection to microcephaly phenotypes (Wilson et al., 2012; Snedeker et al., 2017).

1.3.2 Cilia in neuron migration

The specialized cell generated from the asymmetrical stem cell division leaves the apical ventricular surface in a process called delamination and completely exits the cell cycle. The newborn neuron then extends a short rear trailing process and a leading process, which, together with the growth cone, guide the neuron migration from the ventricular zone to the final cortical area. Cilia and centrosomes direct this journey in a two-step process (see **Figure 5A**). Initially, the cilium is formed but remains non-extended in the cytoplasm, and further extension of the leading process microtubules occurs. The cilium and centrosome move forward within a swelling in the neurite (centrokinesis), where the cilium starts being extended from the plasma membrane. Then, the cytoskeletal microtubules of the initial segment of the neurite retract, pulling the soma toward the cilium-centrosome unit (nucleokinesis), which once again is not extended, completing the first cycle of "saltatory" neuron migration (Matsumoto et al., 2019).

This cilium-dependent process has been investigated in mouse models and found to be consistent in all migrating neurons regardless of the developmental stage (embryo, post-natal, adult) and type of migration (radial, tangential). At the molecular level, it involves the ciliary cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)/protein kinase A (PKA) signaling pathway (see **Figure 5B**). cAMP, a common signaling cascade second messenger, is produced and accumulates in the ciliary compartment before its translocation to the centrosome, where it is detected in transient hotspots during the nucleokinesis phase. PKA completes the pathway downstream and specifically localizes at the centrosome, where it interacts and gets activated by cAMP. Therefore, the cilium and centrosome function as a single signaling unit, where the cilium acts as the producer and the centrosome acts as the effector (Stoufflet et al., 2020).



Figure 5: **(A)** Cilium/centrosome dynamics during cyclic saltatory neuron migration. The cilium extends from the plasma membrane only during centrokinesis (phase 2) and not during the extension of the leading process (phase 1) or nucleokinesis (phase 3). **(B)** Molecular details of the ciliary cAMP/PKA signaling pathway. cAMP molecules are produced in the cilium and translocate to the centrosome, where hotspots (red dot) are detected during the nucleokinesis phase (Stoufflet and Caillé, 2022).

1.3.3 Cilia in neuron differentiation

Although neurons need to migrate to the proper cortical brain area before differentiating, in reality, neuron migration and differentiation are intertwined and synchronized events. As described in the previous chapter, neuron migration orientation and direction rely on leading and trailing processes, which represent the future dendrites and future axon, respectively. Therefore, these distinct molecular structures are established before or during the initial phases of migration, in a process called neuron polarization. Cytoskeleton organization and rearrangement to determine neuron polarization and axon specification/axonogenesis are mainly regulated by the centrosome (MTOC) and the Golgi apparatus (Meka et al., 2020; Meka et al., 2022), before the cilium is assembled on top of it to direct neuron migration.

Once the neuron reaches its final cortical destination, it needs to mature and functionally connect to neighboring neurons. Guo et al. (2019) provided insight into how cilia play a critical role in the development of axon tracts, wiring, and connecting the brain in mice models. Molecularly, the protein complex consisting of ciliary ArI13b and inositol polyphosphate-5-phosphatase E (INPP5E) is essential for ciliary function. Arl13b regulates the localization of ciliary signaling receptors, while INPP5E controls the composition of the ciliary membrane, including receptor trafficking and activation of the downstream phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/protein kinase B (AKT) signaling cascade. Mice with mutations in either Arl13b or Innp5e, resulting in impaired cilia structure and function, display abnormal PI3K/AKT pathway activation, along with reduced axon branching, disrupted growth cone architecture with imbalanced filopodia-lamellipodia morphology, and altered axon orientation. Consequently, defects in axon pathfinding may result in agenesis or hypoplasia of brain areas, leading to disrupted neuronal circuits and severe brain malformation phenotypes (Liu et al., 2021).

Cilia have also been found to be essential during the final steps of neuronal circuit formation. After developing the axon, cilia and ciliary signaling play a key role in refining dendritic connectivity and synapse formation through WNT/ β -catenin pathway regulation (Kumamoto et al., 2012) and increasing neuronal excitability and synaptic transmission (Tereshko et al., 2021).

1.3.4 Ciliopathies and neurodevelopmental disorders

Malfunctions or abnormalities in ciliary structure or function can give rise to a group of diseases known as ciliopathies. These genetic disorders are primarily inherited in an autosomal recessive manner. Due to the nearly ubiquitous presence of cilia throughout the body's cells and tissues, ciliopathies can manifest in a wide range of conditions with pleiotropic effects, where one gene affects multiple traits (Mitchison and Valente, 2017; Reiter and Leroux, 2017). This means that multiple organs and systems can be simultaneously affected, including brain-related symptoms, leading to the development of various ciliopathies such as nephronophthisis, Bardet-Biedl, Joubert, and Meckel-Gruber syndromes. Severe neurological phenotypes observed in some ciliopathies have prompted research on cilia functions and defects in certain neurodevelopmental disorders not categorized as ciliopathies, but where proteins expressed or functioning at the cilium are involved when mutated, although their function remains poorly understood (Karalis et al., 2022).

Notably, cilia defects have been increasingly linked not only to the manifestation of neurodevelopmental conditions, including dyslexia (Massinen et al., 2011; Chandrasekar et al., 2013; Kere, 2014; Bieder et al., 2020), autism spectrum disorders, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder (Reiter and Leroux, 2017; Lauter et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2019), but also to neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Huntington's diseases (Ki et al., 2021).

1.4 GENE REGULATION OF THE NONCODING HUMAN GENOME

1.4.1 Promoters and enhancers

Over 98% of the human genome is composed of noncoding sequences, including intronic regions (Perenthaler et al., 2019). Nonetheless, numerous noncoding sequences are transcribed into noncoding RNAs without ever being translated into proteins. The function of noncoding RNAs is still largely unknown, and there may be many more than those currently known. Most (gene) regulatory elements reside in the noncoding genome and can act either in *cis*, as gene-proximal promoters and gene-distal enhancers, or in *trans*, for example as transcription factors, to regulate gene expression (Signor and Nuzhdin, 2018) (see **Figure 6**). Furthermore, the vast majority of genetic variations, such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), occur in noncoding regions and may be associated with

diseases (Zhang and Lupski, 2015), including in the brain, where enhancers are activated in a developmental, cell-type-specific manner, and their dysregulation is linked to neuropsychiatric disorders (Carullo and Day, 2019).

Promoters are short consensus DNA sequences bound by RNA polymerase and transcription factors to initiate the transcription of genes into mRNAs. Promoters are usually located right upstream of their target gene coding region, and their sequences are about 100–1000 base pairs (bp) long. Regulatory elements are located in the core promoter region, composed of sequences that help RNA polymerase bind and recognize the transcription start site (TSS), such as the highly conserved TATA box situated about 25 bp from the TSS (Putta and Mitra, 2010). To allow the protein transcription machinery to bind DNA, the chromatin around promoters must be loosely packed and accessible. Thus, histone modifications vary during gene transcription, with histone 3 lysine 4 trimethylation (H3K4me3) particularly important for transcription activation (Sharifi-Zarchi et al., 2017).

Enhancers are short DNA sequences that can boost gene transcription by hundred-fold or more. While functionally they are less well studied than promoters, structurally they are quite similar, harboring regulatory sequences. They also spatially differ since they do not need to be in proximity to their target genes but can be located even hundreds of thousands of bp upstream or downstream of the TSS (Panigrahi and O'Malley, 2021). Enhancers are typically bidirectionally transcribed to produce enhancer RNAs (eRNAs), and unlike promoters, their orientation can be inverted without decreasing their regulatory activity. The chromatin around enhancers is also open, with histone 3 lysine 4 monomethylation (H3K4me1) and histone 3 lysine 27 acetylation (H3K27ac) modifications. Uniquely, enhancer sequences and their distinct chromatin modifications are associated with cell and tissue-specific gene regulation (Sartorelli and Lauberth, 2020).



Figure 6: Simplified illustration of gene expression regulation (adapted from www.addgene.org).

2 Research aims

The overall aim of this thesis is to further our understanding of the role of human neuronal primary cilia during neuron differentiation in connection to defects observed in certain complex neurodevelopmental disorders and to investigate the molecular mechanisms that govern this process.

- The specific aim of Paper I is to establish an innovative human neuronal ciliated model (LUHMES) where it is possible to study cilia in proliferating, differentiating, and fully differentiated neurons.
- The specific aim of Paper II is to use the LUHMES cell model to precisely resolve the effective ciliary time window promoting neuron differentiation and to investigate how cilia and ciliary signaling impact this process.
- The specific aim of Paper III is to provide a catalog of molecular signatures of enhancer-promoter interactions for regulating LUHMES neuron differentiation, also providing clues on the etiology of neuropsychiatric disorders like schizophrenia and Parkinson's disease.

3 Methodological considerations

3.1 CELL CULTURES

The history of cell cultures is relatively recent. It was only at the end of the 19th century that cells began to be perceived as functional units capable of living autonomously. This understanding led to the establishment in 1951 of the first immortalized cell line, the popular HeLa cancer cells, which are still used as an in vitro model today. Nowadays, advanced genome engineering technologies have resulted in more than 4000 cell lines available from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), although there are not many non-malignant human neuronal cell lines currently available (see Table 1). In all three Papers I, II and III, we utilized Lund human mesencephalic (LUHMES) neuron precursor cells (ATCC). LUHMES cells are a subclone of the human mesencephalic-derived cell line MESC2.10, which originated from ventral mesencephalic tissue of an 8-week-old female fetus (Lotharius et al., 2005) and was immortalized through the retroviral LINX-vmyc vector approach (Hoshimaru et al., 1996; Lotharius et al., 2002). LUHMES cells were subsequently characterized morphologically, immunocytologically, and electrophysiologically by Scholz et al. (2011). As a model system, LUHMES cells offer unique advantages compared to other human neuronal cell lines. Immortalizing LUHMES neuron precursors overcame the common problem of primary cultures in creating a starting large neuronal population, and LUHMES cells were found to be much more sensitive and responsive to exogenous compounds than MESC2.10 cells, resembling primary cell behavior (Fountaine et al., 2008; Schilknecht et al., 2009). Moreover, thanks to the conditional control of the *v-myc* transgene via tetracycline, LUHMES cells differentiate into fully functional neurons within only a week, representing an unparalleled model to study cilia biology during both neuron proliferation and every step of the entire differentiation process. Thus, the LUHMES model allowed us to resolve and identify the dynamic ciliary time window that critically affects neuron maturation (see Paper II).

In Paper III, due to the challenge of efficiently transfecting LUHMES cells, human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT)-immortalized retinal pigment epithelial-1 (RPE-1) cells (ATCC) were used to validate the LUHMES promoter-enhancer interactions identified by capture Hi-C (HiCap). hTERT RPE-1 cells are a commonly used human ciliated cell line, as ciliogenesis can be induced upon serum starvation (Pitaval et al., 2010).

Name and reference	Type of cell line	Advantages	Disadvantages
<u>Neural Progenitor</u> <u>Cells (NPCs)</u> (ATCC)	Primary	Biological relevance. Proliferate and differentiate. Can derive from iPSCs of patients.	Complete differentiation > 1 month.
<u>Neuroepithelial</u> <u>Stem (NES) cells</u> (Falk et al., 2012)	Primary	Biological relevance. Proliferate and differentiate. Can derive from iPSCs of patients.	Complete differentiation > 1 month.
<u>Human Neurons</u> (<u>HN)</u> (ScienCell Research Laboratories)	Primary	Biological relevance.	Do not proliferate. No long-term cultures.
<u>MESC2.10</u> (Lotharius et al., 2002)	Immortalized	Proliferate and differentiate in a week.	Unstable dopaminergic phenotype. Low sensitivity to exogenous compounds.
<u>LUHMES</u> (Lotharius et al., 2005; Scholz et al., 2011; this thesis)	Immortalized	Proliferate and differentiate in a week. Stable dopaminergic phenotype. High sensitivity to exogenous compounds.	Synaptic integration studies may require longer maturation and/or exposure to other factors.

 Table 1: Common non-malignant human neuronal cell lines available.
3.2 GENETIC MANIPULATION OF LUHMES CELLS

3.2.1 CRISPR/Cas9 gene knockout

In Paper II, to investigate cilia function during neuron differentiation, we generated a stable ciliary mutant model for the ciliogenic transcription factor RFX2 using CRISPR/Cas9 technology (see Figure 7). Among the eight RFX transcription factors in humans, RFX2 is highly expressed in brain tissue and plays a critical role in ciliogenesis. The CRISPR/Cas9 construct was designed with specific guide RNAs targeting our region of interest, and the Cas9 enzyme fused with GFP was used for visualization. Although LUHMES neurons are known to be difficult to transfect, we achieved sufficiently good transfection efficiency using both lipid-based transfection and electroporation methods. Our CRISPR/Cas9 system was designed to delete nucleotides (22 bp in *allele a*, 43 bp in *allele b*), resulting in a premature translational stop codon upstream of the DNA binding domain (DBD) coding region. Disruption of the DBD is essential to impair the function of RFX2 as a transcription factor and prevent its regulation of ciliary target genes. The resulting sequence deletions were verified by Sanger sequencing, mRNA expression levels were assessed by quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR), and protein expression was evaluated by Western blot (WB) analysis, confirming a significant reduction of mRNAs and complete absence of the final protein product.



Figure 7: Genetic engineering of RFX2 gene by CRISPR/Cas9 (adapted from Paper II, Figure 3A).

3.2.2 siRNA-mediated gene silencing

In Paper II, to confirm that the observed neuron differentiation defects in *RFX2* -/neurons were indeed caused by cilia alterations, we employed an additional independent method to knock down the expression of *IFT88* and *IFT172*, two ciliary genes essential for cilia assembly and function. One of the most traditional techniques for reducing the expression of a specific gene is using small interfering RNAs (siRNAs). These small molecules, typically around 20–25 nucleotides in length, are complementary to mRNA sequences of a specific target gene, leading to mRNA cleavage and transient downregulation of its expression. To maximize the effects, we pooled four different single siRNAs specifically designed for each gene before transfecting LUHMES cells with lipofectamine. As a control, LUHMES cells were also transfected with non-specific scrambled siRNA sequences conjugated with fluorophores (Alexa Fluor 488) to assess transfection efficiency, and the relative mRNA expression levels were quantified by qRT–PCR.

3.3 IMMUNOCYTOCHEMISTRY AND CONFOCAL MICROSCOPY

Most of the results from Papers I and II originated from the immunocytochemistry method. This technique relies on specific antibody recognition and binding to the antigen and can be either direct, when the primary antibody is conjugated with a fluorophore, or indirect, when the secondary antibody is conjugated and binds to the unlabeled primary. Although the direct method allows the simultaneous use of primary antibodies isolated from the same animal host, the indirect method (used in Papers I and II) is more commonly employed due to its high sensitivity, flexibility, and cost-effectiveness. In the indirect method, multiple fluorescent secondary antibodies bind to each single primary antibody, and they are conveniently obtainable.

Primary cilia size varies widely depending on the cell type, ranging from 1 μ m in chondrocytes to up to 30 μ m in kidney epithelial cells (Saggese et al., 2012). LUHMES cells, in particular, extend short cilia (~2-5 μ m long) on their surface (Coschiera et al., 2023), which presents a challenge for their detection and structural studies. However, these cilia are present throughout the entire process of neuron differentiation (as discussed in Paper I), making LUHMES cells a convenient model for studying neuronal cilia function.

Differently from live cell imaging, immunocytochemistry is performed on fixed cells, limiting our analysis to a snapshot of the current protein localization and biological situation of the cell. This approach may potentially overlook important aspects of highly dynamic processes such as neuron differentiation and primary cilium assembly/disassembly. Nonetheless, only a few samples are sufficient to analyze a large population of neurons, which is necessary to accurately identify the ciliary contribution to promoting neuron differentiation (as discussed in Paper II).

Given the small size of primary cilia, fluorescent detection typically necessitates the use of confocal microscopy. Unlike widefield microscopy, which collects light from all in-focus and out-of-focus planes, laser scanning confocal microscopes (LSCM) utilize a pinhole in front of the light source and one before the detector to target the specimen at a single point, thereby shielding the detected light from out-of-focus planes. This setup drastically improves contrast and signal-to-noise ratio (Shaw, 2006). Since the majority of my experimental work involved a large number of cells, all immunocytochemistry images were acquired using a spinning disk confocal microscope (SDCM). Unlike LSCM, which scans point by point, SDCM utilizes a disk with hundreds of pinholes rotating at high speed, enabling faster imaging of specimens, and helping to reduce the occurrence of photodamage and photobleaching.

3.4 MODULATION OF CILIARY SIGNALING PATHWAYS

LUHMES cells have been demonstrated to serve as a valid model for drug treatment, particularly in neurotoxicity assays and drug screening (Smirnova et al., 2016; Beliakov et al., 2023). Primary cilia are involved in the transduction of a wide number of signaling pathways (Wheway et al., 2018). In Paper I, to demonstrate that cilia of LUHMES cells are not only extended but also functional in their primary role as signal transducers, we artificially manipulated the ciliary SHH pathway using both an agonist (Smoothened agonist; SAG) and an antagonist (cyclopamine). Besides being one of the most well-characterized ciliary signaling pathways, the SHH pathway is conveniently tested because most cells share common target genes expressed to regulate the pathway in a negative or positive feedback loop manner (PTCH1 and GLI1, respectively) (Carballo et al., 2018). In Paper II, we modulated the WNT pathway due to its relevance in regulating neurogenesis, neuron differentiation, and development (Inestrosa and Varela-Nallar, 2015; Arredondo et al., 2020). Firstly, we used a pathway antagonist (Wnt-C59) to observe at both cellular and molecular levels how the absence of WNT activation impairs aspects of axon differentiation and negatively regulates the expression of key genes involved in cytoskeleton remodeling. Then, we tested an extracellular WNT agonist (Wnt3a) to determine how altered RFX2 -/- cilia differently respond to environmental WNTs compared to WT cilia, affecting downstream target gene expression.

3.5 TRANSCRIPTOME ANALYSIS BY RNA-SEQUENCING

3.5.1 STRT and CAGE

Single-cell tagged reverse transcription (STRT) (Islam et al., 2011) and cap analysis of gene expression (CAGE) (Kawaji et al., 2014) are RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq) methods to capture the transcript far 5[°] ends (TFEs) to quantify the transcript expression at the TSS level. Both methods follow similar protocols for retrotranscribing RNA into cDNA, using either oligo-dT primers to specifically detect the poly-a tail of mRNAs (STRT) or random primers to capture all RNAs (CAGE). While in CAGE, the 5[°] caps are trapped using biotinylation and streptavidin-coated magnetic beads, in STRT, cDNA templates are first tagged with unique barcodes and then pulled down using the same biotin-streptavidin system. In comparison to 3[°] UTR tag RNA-seq, both STRT and CAGE are also able to identify essential promoter elements contained within the 5[°] UTR (Mittanck and Rottwein, 1997), providing relevant insights into gene regulation dynamics.

In Paper I we used STRT (see **Figure 8A**) to compare the gene expression time course profile of LUHMES WT with single-cell RNA-seq data from fetal human midbrain (La Manno et al., 2016). In Paper II we used STRT to compare the transcriptomics analysis of LUHMES WT with the mutant LUHMES *RFX2 -/-* background. In Paper III, CAGE (see **Figure 8B**) was used to obtain information on transcribed promoters and integrate them with transcribed enhancer data from NET-CAGE.



Figure 8: Workflow illustrating STRT **(A)** and CAGE **(B)** RNA-seq protocols for library preparation (adapted from Murakawa et al., 2016).

3.5.2 NET-CAGE

Native elongating transcript-cap analysis of gene expression (NET-CAGE) was a method developed by Hirabayashi et al. (2019) to characterize *cis*-regulatory elements, particularly enhancer sequences, in cells and tissues (see **Figure 9**). eRNAs are very unstable transcripts with a short half-life; therefore, they must be purified while being transcribed by RNA polymerase II in the nucleus, rather than from the highly processed cytoplasmic total RNA. Thus, NET-CAGE resulted in approximately three times greater sensitivity than CAGE for mapping enhancer loci. Enhancers were also found to be transcribed in a more cell type-specific manner than promoters, making their analysis essential for understanding molecular mechanisms behind the regulation of biological processes such as neuron differentiation.

In Paper III, LUHMES cells were harvested and lysed to separate the cytoplasmic fraction (containing total RNA) from the nuclear fraction, while blocking transcription activity with α -amanitin. The nuclei were further lysed to separate the soluble nucleoplasmic fraction from the insoluble chromatin fraction. The chromatin fraction was treated with DNase, and the remaining nascent RNAs were isolated and purified.



Figure 9: Overview of NET-CAGE nascent RNAs isolation protocol (Hirabayashi et al., 2019).

3.6 PROMOTER-ENHANCER INTERACTIONS ANALYSIS

3.6.1 HiCap

Chromosome conformation capture (3C) was developed to investigate physical chromatin interactions that bring distal enhancers in close spatial proximity to promoters to regulate gene expression (Lieberman-Aiden et al., 2009) (see **Figure 10**). Although several techniques exist to map enhancers genome-wide, locating enhancer target genes remains challenging. Sahlén et al. (2015) combined 3C high-throughput with sequencing methodologies (Hi-C) and captured only interactions of regions of interest (HiCap), thereby enhancing sensitivity and achieving the detection of enhancer-promoter interactions with close to single-enhancer resolution.

In Paper III, we used HiCap in combination with data from eRNAs (NET-CAGE) and mRNAs (CAGE) to gain insight into how neuron differentiation is molecularly

regulated at different stages: the beginning (day 1 of differentiation; d1), the middle (d3), and the end of the process (maturation) (d6).



Figure 10: Overview of Hi-C protocol (Lieberman-Aiden et al., 2009).

3.6.2 Validation of promoter-enhancer interactions by CRISPRa

To validate genome-wide chromatin interactions detected by HiCap, in Paper III, we performed CRISPR-mediated gene activation (CRISPRa) on hTERT RPE-1 cells. CRISPRa was employed to activate the transcription of target genes and consisted of a plasmid encoding a catalytically inactivated Cas9 protein (dead Cas9; dCas9) ribonucleoprotein fused to a series of activation domains (Weltner et al., 2018). dCas9 was transfected into cells along with guide cassettes assembled by PCR (455 bp), containing the specific sequence of either promoters or enhancers, to guide the dCas9 to the selected target gene. The promoter-enhancer interaction, mapped by HiCap to regulate specific gene expression, was considered validated if the CRISPRa system increased the target mRNA expression when both promoter and enhancer guide cassettes were used, in comparison to either promoter or enhancer sequences by themselves. Moreover, no effect was expected if the specific enhancer sequence was used together with a nonspecific promoter sequence as a negative control.

3.7 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

LUHMES and hTERT RPE-1 cells are immortalized lines purchased from ATCC without, therefore, any ethical concern regarding the use of human tissues.

4 Results

4.1 Paper I: LUHMES-derived neurons as model to study human neuronal cilia

The LUHMES cell line has been previously characterized and established as a robust research model, where neuron precursors differentiate into functional mature neurons within a week, making it ideal for studying neurodevelopmental processes. Due to the lack of established human neuronal models that are ciliated, we further characterized LUHMES cells, focusing on primary cilia biology.

We quantified the efficiency with which neurons become completely post-mitotic after 24 h of tetracycline exposure to shut down *v-myc* transgene expression during differentiation. Employing a number of fluorescent markers directed to centrosome and cilium structural components, we demonstrated that LUHMES cells are ciliated during proliferation (dO) and during all phase of differentiation (d1-6). As the final proof of cilia presence beyond question, we performed transmission electron microscopy (TEM), displaying the typical basal body 9+0 triplet microtubules and the axoneme 9+0 doublet arrangements.

To validate LUHMES cells as a model for studying neuronal cilia, it is important not only to demonstrate their presence but also to assess their function as signal transducers. We exposed LUHMES cells to an agonist (SAG) or antagonist (cyclopamine) of the known ciliary signaling pathway SHH and detected mRNA levels of specific SHH target genes, showing significant upregulation and downregulation, respectively, compared to control samples.

To further enhance the appeal of the LUHMES cell model as a novel *in vitro* research tool for investigating neuronal cilia, we compared its coding transcriptome analysis with the coding transcriptome of *in vivo* human fetal midbrain cells. This highlighted two important aspects: clear separate expression profiles between proliferating neuron precursors (dO) and differentiating neurons (d2-6), and strong expression profile overlap between the expected *in vitro* LUHMES neurotransmitter phenotype and the corresponding *in vivo* midbrain neuronal population type. Moreover, molecular analyses of neuron differentiation showed a significant enrichment of upregulated genes involved in axon and neuron development, along with increased RFX transcription factor binding motif activity (RFX2-3) and consequent upregulation of ciliary genes.

27

Altogether, we have established a convenient and reliable human neuronal model to study primary cilia in proliferating, differentiating, and differentiated, mature neurons in connection with the biological etiology of neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative disorders. LUHMES neurons extend functional cilia and represent a valuable *in vitro* model resembling the gene expression profile and behavior of *in vivo* midbrain neurons.

4.2 Paper II: Cilia-mediated switch from canonical to non-canonical WNT signaling promotes axon differentiation of human neurons

After establishing a ciliated human neuronal cell model, we further investigated how cilia and ciliary signaling contribute to promoting human neuron differentiation of LUHMES neurons. Considering that LUHMES cells uniquely complete their maturation in just a week, we were able to follow and analyze the ciliation pattern at every step of neuron differentiation. We found that the percentage of ciliated cells started rising after the cell cycle exit (upon culture medium change), peaked on day 3 of differentiation (approximately 70% of ciliated cells), and steadily decreased alongside the completion of the maturation process (d6). Within the neuronal population, cilia were mostly extended on stages 2–3 neurons, promoting the neuron bipolar symmetry break and outgrowth of the emerging axon. These observations illustrated a critical ciliary time window where cilia effectively function to affect neurodevelopment.

To accurately estimate the impact of cilia on neuron differentiation, we mutated the brain-relevant ciliogenic transcription factor RFX2. This mutation led to structural anomalies (RFX2 -/- cilia were significantly longer than WT cilia) and functional abnormalities. Thus, RFX2 -/- altered cilia were notably less efficient than WT cilia in promoting axon outgrowth. Additionally, we analyzed another critical neuron differentiation process, axon branching/arborization. Ciliated WT neurons displayed more branched axons than their non-ciliated counterparts, whereas no anatomical difference was observed between the axons of ciliated and non-ciliated RFX2 -/- neurons.

To strengthen the causal connection between cilia alterations and neuron differentiation defects, we performed siRNA-mediated gene silencing of two other well-known ciliary genes, *IFT88* and *IFT172*. Downregulation of gene expressions resulted in fewer and shorter cilia, and, similarly to RFX2 –/– neurons, in a reduced number of ciliated neurons capable of outgrowing the axon and reaching differentiation stage 3 compared to ciliated control neurons. Interestingly, a different trend to RFX2 –/– neurons was observed when axon branches were quantified. Lack of IFT88 or IFT172 translated into axons of ciliated neurons being significantly less branched than control ones.

After extensively studying LUHMES neurons at the cellular level, we analyzed their gene expression signatures in time course experiments covering the entire differentiation process. The differentiation of *RFX2* -/- neurons consistently

resulted in delays at each step (d1-6) together with downregulation of genes involved in axon and neurodevelopment compared to WT neurons. Interestingly, within this cluster of downregulated genes, a significant enrichment of binding motif sequences specific for transcription factor families belonging to the ciliary WNT signaling pathway, and specifically to the non-canonical branch, was found.

WNT signaling is a known and established pathway for regulating neurogenesis, differentiation, and neurodevelopment, and its activation is modulated by primary cilia. To determine the impact of WNT signaling on LUHMES neuron differentiation, we treated the cells with a drug (Wnt-C59) that inhibits the activation of the pathway by acting on endogenous secreted WNT ligands. In WT neurons, lack of WNT activation resulted in fewer neurons capable of progressing from stage 2 to stage 3 and outgrowing their axons, regardless of the presence of cilia. Altered RFX2 -/- cilia, as described above, already impaired axon outgrowth, and Wnt-C59 treatment did not show any cumulative effect in that regard. Inhibition of the WNT pathway also led to deregulation of axon branching and pruning processes in WT neurons. Again, the antagonist treatment did not further deregulate axon branching in RFX2 -/- neurons compared to control samples. The effects of WNT signaling were also analyzed at the molecular level. Treatment with Wnt-C59 resulted in significant downregulation of genes essential for cytoskeleton remodeling, including some non-canonical WNT target genes, similar to the basal expression level found in the RFX2 -/- background, thereby causally connecting cilia alteration to the morphological and differentiation defects observed.

To understand how cilia modulate the WNT pathway and, consequently, affect aspects of neuron differentiation, we examined the cellular expression pattern of the active form of β -catenin, the main mediator of the canonical WNT pathway. We found that cilia of WT neurons reduced β -catenin nuclear translocation and canonical WNT activation compared to non-ciliated neurons, while *RFX2 -/-* ciliated neurons displayed nuclear accumulation as strong as non-ciliated ones.

Altogether, we characterized ciliation throughout the entire human neuron differentiation process, identifying a functional ciliary time window. We provided further insight into the roles of cilia during neuron differentiation and their essential contribution post neurogenesis to modulate the WNT signaling pathway in favor of non-canonical (β -catenin-independent) activation to promote cytoskeleton remodeling supporting the anatomical changes during neurodevelopment.

30

4.3 Paper III: Transcriptional landscape of human neurodevelopment

In both previous papers, we extensively characterized the human neuron differentiation process at the cellular level, focusing on cilia function and identifying a functional ciliary time window. In Paper III, we investigated the molecular regulatory machinery governing the neurodevelopment of LUHMES neurons.

To observe how the regulatory landscape dynamically changes during neuron differentiation, we performed CAGE and NET-CAGE analyses of three stages of LUHMES neuron differentiation: d1, d3, and d6. Through NET-CAGE analysis, we identified 47.350 active and dynamically regulated enhancers, of which 31.057 were newly discovered. Upregulated enhancers at d3 and d6 were enriched in genes related to axon development.

To uncover the most relevant transcription factors regulating neuron differentiation, we analyzed enhancer-associated binding motifs. Consistent with previous findings in Paper II, we found that upregulated enhancers at d3 were enriched with binding motifs of transcription factors related to non-canonical WNT pathway activation, while at d6, there was significant involvement of ciliogenic RFX transcription factors, confirming the essential role of cilia and ciliary signaling during the process.

Considering that ciliary defects contribute, at least in part, to the pathogenesis of several neurodevelopmental disorders, we assessed the enrichment of enhancer SNPs, expressed in LUHMES neurons, related to neuropsychiatric conditions using GWAS. We found overrepresentations associated, among others, with Parkinson's disease, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorders, consistent with the midbrain-derived dopaminergic origin of LUHMES neurons.

Only a small percentage of enhancers regulate the closest gene. Using targeted chromatin conformation capture HiCap, we identified LUHMES enhancer target genes through enhancer-promoter interactions, finding that differentially expressed enhancers were more likely to interact with differentially expressed genes.

Altogether, our work nearly tripled the number of known LUHMES neuronal transcriptional enhancers. Consistent with the ciliary time window found in Paper II, cilia-related activity increased after d1 of differentiation, highlighting their relevant function in regulating the process. Moreover, new enhancers overlapped

with GWAS hits for certain neuropsychiatric disorders. As enhancer activity is tissue-specific, their discovery and study become a powerful tool to better understand certain aspects of the pathogenesis of complex neuropsychiatric conditions.

5 Discussion and future perspectives

Our research advanced the current knowledge of how the human nervous system develops. Establishing the ciliated human neuronal LUHMES cell model, we were able to extensively investigate primary cilia and ciliary signaling at the cellular level during the whole neuron differentiation process and to molecularly uncover the different regulatory element dynamics between neural precursor cells, differentiating and fully mature neurons.

Cilia were mostly studied in either non-human or non-neuronal models. With the LUHMES cell model, we could provide the scientific community with a tool where it is possible to study human neuronal cilia *in vitro* at a similar qualitative level as *in vivo*. To better understand how cilia contribute to promoting neuron differentiation, we generated neurons with altered cilia function: a mutant model for the ciliogenic RFX2 TF, and two KD lines for the essential ciliary genes *IFT88* and *IFT172*. We found that functional cilia were needed in the early time window of differentiation to promote the axon development process, specifically aiding in the outgrowth of the opposite neurite and the projection of branches. To aid this critical cell cytoskeleton remodeling, we showed that cilia are implicated in the regulation of the canonical WNT signaling pathway main mediator β -catenin, reducing its nuclear activation. With advanced sequencing techniques, we mapped the transcriptional enhancer landscape of human neuron differentiation and identified genomic loci affected by SNPs in connection to relevant neuropsychiatric disorders like Parkinson's and schizophrenia.

Cilia biogenesis is dynamically regulated during cell cycle progression (Plotnikova et al., 2009). After adding the differentiation medium, LUHMES cells further proliferate for an additional 24 h before starting to differentiate and the neuronal population always consists of ciliated and non-ciliated neurons throughout the whole process. This showed that LUHMES cells become post-mitotic in a nonsynchronous way based on the cell cycle phase they are involved in when the culture condition changes. After successfully testing cilia function of LUHMES neurons by exogenous activation of the ciliary SHH pathway, we accurately characterized neuronal ciliation during the maturation process. We found that ciliation gradually increased and peaked at d3 of differentiation (~70% of ciliated cells), before decreasing during the later phases of the maturation process. We speculate that cilia and ciliary signaling become relevant after the first steps of neuron differentiation (polarization, axonogenesis, initial neurite elongation) mainly

33

driven by the centrosome (MTOC) (Meka et al., 2020; Meka et al., 2022). This suggests that cilia play a critical role in regulating the subsequent differentiation steps (axon outgrowth/branching, migration), before being disassembled in concomitance with the establishment of synapses, the "final" cell signaling tool. In accordance, we observed a predominant cilia distribution on differentiation stages 2 and 3 neurons, when axon outgrowth and further development occur after breaking the bipolar symmetry of neurites.

To improve this correlation between cilia and axon outgrowth we mutated the ciliogenic TF RFX2 and knocked down the expression of two essential ciliary structure genes, IFT88 and IFT172. Among the eight human RFX TFs, LUHMES neurons highly express RFX1-3, RFX5, and RFX7, whereas RFX5 is not connected to ciliogenesis (Choksi et al., 2014). On the other hand, RFX2 is widely expressed in brain tissues (Sugiaman-Trapman et al., 2018), in LUHMES neurons it is the most expressed, and it has been only implicated in either ciliogenesis during vertebrate development (Chung et al., 2012; Lemeille et al., 2020) or in non-brain-related processes like spermatogenesis (Wu et al., 2016). Following stable RFX2 knockout, we detected defects of cilia function, a significant downregulation of several ciliary genes involved in relevant ciliary signaling pathways, and cilia structure. RFX2 -/cilia resulted significantly longer than the WT ones. Although previous works observed shorter/truncated cilia in RFX2 -/- cells, these mutations were carried out in different organisms (Zebrafish, Xenopus), with a transient and not stable gene expression downregulation (Bisgrove et al., 2012; Chung et al., 2012). Therefore, RFX2 in LUHMES neurons may actually act as inhibitor of ciliogenesis. Also, ciliation is slightly accelerated in RFX2 -/- neurons and, based on our transcriptomics data, it is the only RFX TF highly expressed in the early days of differentiation (d0-d2, when general ciliation is low) before being downregulated during the subsequent maturation days (in contrast with ciliation increase).

Taking advantage of the non-synchronous differentiation of LUHMES cells, we examined two important aspects of neuron differentiation (axon outgrowth, axon branching) in WT and *RFX2* -/- ciliated and non-ciliated neuronal populations, specifically in the early time window of differentiation. While in the WT background having a cilium correlates with a higher percentage of neurons able to break the bipolar symmetry and outgrow the axon (stage 3), *RFX2* -/- neurons showed no axon outgrowth differences between ciliated and non-ciliated cells, delaying the overall differentiation process. Similarly, axons of ciliated WT cells were more branched than the non-ciliated ones, and, once again, no difference was observed

in *RFX2* -/- neurons. Interestingly, axons of non-ciliated *RFX2* -/- neurons appeared as branched as the ciliated ones, potentially implicating *RFX2* as a negative regulator of axon branching, facilitating the axon pruning process neurons normally undergo (Creighton et al., 2021). To confirm the cilium as being responsible for regulating these differentiation aspects, we transiently downregulated the expression of two well-known components of the IFT-B complex (*IFT88, IFT172*) to perturb ciliogenesis (Wang et al., 2021). We then performed the same cellular observations, detecting fewer ciliated *IFT88* and *IFT172* KD neurons with significantly shorter cilia in comparison to the control WT. As expected, ciliated *IFT88* and *IFT172* KD neurons also resulted in being less competent to break the bipolar symmetry and reach stage 3 (axon outgrowth), and, in contrast to *RFX2* -/- neurons, to develop axon branches. This suggests how different aspects of neuron differentiation may be regulated by independent mechanisms and strengthens the hypothesis of *RFX2* involvement in trimming the excess of branches of developing axons.

After an extensive cellular study, we performed the molecular transcriptomics analysis of LUHMES neurons. Applying the STRT RNA-seq method we compared the LUHMES WT gene expression profile with available data from in vivo human fetal midbrain during the differentiation of precursor cells into neurons (La Manno et al., 2016), finding highly similar patterns indicating the experimental value of LUHMES neurons as in vitro cell model. By STRT RNA-seq we also compared the differentiation time course between WT and RFX2 -/- neurons. This confirmed the overall delay by which RFX2 -/- neurons undergo the maturation process already in the early time window of differentiation, resulting from a significant downregulation of genes enriched with GO terms related to neuron differentiation. Therefore, alterations, even mild ones, of cilia function and/or structure seem able to disrupt relevant aspects of the process, where also proper timing represents an essential factor in the organization of a such precise sequence of cellular events. To further uncover the molecular mechanisms that govern human neuron differentiation, we applied two more RNA-seq methods to study the main genomic *cis*-regulatory elements. We integrated CAGE and NET-CAGE analyses (Hirabayashi et al., 2019) to identify promoters and the lesser-explored enhancer sequences at the beginning, the middle, and at the end of neuron differentiation, almost tripling the amount of LUHMES neuronal enhancers currently known. Different from promoters, enhancers modulate gene expression in a more cell and tissue type-specific fashion, therefore studying their sequences becomes crucial to elucidate how complex systems are molecularly regulated. Detection of enhancer-associated sequence motifs gave us important clues to which TFs are dynamically expressed in different phases of neuron differentiation and allowed to reveal enhancer SNPs-associated variants potentially related to the pathogenesis of common neuropsychiatric conditions that still lack effective treatments, in particular Parkinson's disease, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder (Carullo and Day, 2019). Thus, among downregulated genes of *RFX2* –/– cells (STRT RNA-seq data) and upregulated promoters and enhancers (CAGE and NET-CAGE data), motif analysis showed a consistent enrichment of TF binding motifs of members of the AP-1 transcriptional complex activated by ciliary non-canonical WNT signaling.

The WNT signaling pathway participates in multiple processes to control nervous system development (Inestrosa and Varela-Nallar, 2015; Arredondo et al., 2020). Its canonical and non-canonical activation is finely tuned during the different phases of neurodevelopment and a predominant non-canonical activation was found essential to mediate the early differentiation of human neurons (Bengoa-Vergniory et al., 2014). Due to its complex signaling cascade, the WNT pathway can be modulated at different levels with small molecules (Tran and Zheng, 2017). As LUHMES cells are an in vitro model only exposed to well-defined culture media, to study WNT signaling effects on neuron differentiation we chose to use Wnt-C59 compound to inhibit the expression and activation of all WNT ligands endogenously produced by the cell (Motono et al., 2016). Treatment of WT neurons led to a decrease of stage 3 neurons in the population in comparison to the control (vehicle), mimicking the defect observed in RFX2 -/- neurons already at the basal level. To investigate the effect of Wnt-C59 inhibition on cilia function, we analyzed ciliated and non-ciliated neurons in both genetic backgrounds. While functional (WT) cilia still promoted axon outgrowth process in untreated conditions, treatment with the Wnt-C59 antagonist resulted in a reduction of axon outgrowth regardless of the presence or absence of cilia, as well as RFX2 -/neurons (with altered cilia) always displayed axon outgrowth defects under any circumstance. The same pattern was observed when axon branching was analyzed, where WNT pathway inhibition led to an increased branching of axons of non-ciliated neurons, like occurred in non-ciliated RFX2 -/- neurons. Altogether, these results confirm that WNT signaling is one of the pathways involved in the independent regulation of axon outgrowth and branching with WNT ligands functioning upstream the ciliary signaling machinery and suggest that the WNT

36

pathway, like the *RFX2* gene, may be implicated in promoting the axon pruning process.

Canonical and non-canonical WNT pathways are always active simultaneously where the transcriptional co-activator β -catenin represents the main mediator to stimulate the canonical activity (Qin et al., 2023). Cilia have been found important to control the balance between the two activation levels mediating the cytoplasmic degradation of β -catenin and consequent reduction of the canonical activity (May-Simera and Kelley, 2012). While the total β -catenin expression levels were comparable in WT and RFX2 -/- neurons, we found increased levels of the active (non-phosphorylated) form of β -catenin in RFX2 -/- neurons, indicating a variation of the pathway regulation in comparison to WT neurons. To explore the ciliary connection to this different regulation, we analyzed the cellular distribution of the active β -catenin in ciliated and non-ciliated neurons. When the cilium was extended in WT neurons, the ratio of active β -catenin intensity was lower than in non-ciliated cells, suggesting a ciliary role in diminishing its nuclear translocation potentially promoting its cytoplasmic degradation. By contrast, altered cilia of RFX2 -/- neurons showed high ratio levels like the non-ciliated counterpart, with an increased nuclear expression of active β -catenin. These differences may explain the neuron differentiation delay previously detected in the RFX2 -/background, considering the required switch from canonical to non-canonical WNT activation during the process. Accordingly, canonical activation was found important to promote the centrosome-related first steps of neuron differentiation (neuron polarization, axonogenesis, initial axonal growth) (Stanganello et al., 2019), when ciliation is relatively low, then neurons need to switch to non-canonical WNT activation in order to promote cytoskeleton rearrangement, massively required during the early time window of differentiation (axon outgrowth/branching, ciliation increases and peaks at d3) (Bengoa-Vergniory et al., 2014). Finally, a last canonical WNT activation was found to be prosynaptogenic while non-canonical WNT stimuli functioned as antisynaptogenic (Davis et al., 2008) (cilia start being disassembled after d3 to reduce β -Catenin degradation and increase canonical WNT pathway activation). We speculate that ciliation of LUHMES neurons may be also influenced by the cellular demand of activate either the canonical or the noncanonical WNT signaling, although ciliogenesis seems not to be affected by the pathway itself (Bernatik et al., 2021).

One of the main functions of the non-canonical WNT/PCP signaling is to influence cytoskeletal rearrangements during neuron differentiation (May-Simera and

Kelley, 2012). To test this hypothesis, during treatment of LUHMES neurons with Wnt-C59 antagonist we also assessed the effects of WNT pathway inhibition on cytoskeleton remodeling. In WT neurons, this resulted in a remarkable downregulation of key remodeler and non-canonical WNT target genes at a similar basal expression level of RFX2 -/- neurons. Conversely, the expression of canonical WNT target genes did not decrease with the treatment. This further suggested a predominant non-canonical activation over a canonical one in the middle of the neuron differentiation process (d3). Moreover, the affected genes were also candidate genes for various neurodevelopmental disorders (Yamakawa, 2016; Chia et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2019; Delprato et al., 2022), potentially linking cilia defects (RFX2 -/-) to aspects of their pathogenesis.

Our work in LUHMES neurons on the ciliary contribution to promote neuron (axon) differentiation and on the study of the molecular machinery that regulates the process, fits and integrates well with current studies on similar topics. Neuronal primary cilia were mostly studied in human iPSC-derived neurons, with lengthy and complex culturing processes of above a month (Miki et al., 2019; Bieder et al., 2020; Schmidt et al., 2022), and non-human models like mouse, zebrafish, C. elegans, and Drosophila (Arellano et al., 2012; Lepanto et al., 2016; Bae and Barr, 2008; Jana et al., 2016). Cilia and ciliary signaling were found critical for axonal development and connectivity, determining proper branching and growth cone formation through the PI3K/AKT pathway (Guo et al., 2019). Cilia were also shown to regulate the ciliary cAMP/PKA pathway to promote migration of neurons (Stoufflet et al., 2020) approaching their final brain destination, where they were then required for dendritic refinement and synapse formation (Kumamoto et al., 2012; Guadiana et al., 2013). Ciliary defects were proven to perturb several signaling pathways like WNT, with a concomitant enhanced canonical activation which may cause cytoskeleton remodeling and developmental defects at the origin of certain brain malformations (May-Simera and Kelley, 2012; Park et al., 2019). Interestingly, and even though ciliary signaling was associated with modifications of chromatin accessibility (Sheu et al., 2022), little is known about the molecular regulation of neurodevelopment and an exhaustive identification of enhancer-promoter interactions is still missing. Thus, neuronal enhancers were mostly studied in relation to DNA breakage repair systems, only partially revealing their importance in relation to brain conditions (Carullo and Day, 2019; Wu et al., 2021).

Our research complements previous studies as we offer the possibility to precisely investigate cilia of human neurons at molecular and cellular levels covering the entire differentiation process, including the proliferating and the fully differentiated phases. We strengthened the connection between cilia and WNT signaling in assisting the neuron differentiation process through cytoskeleton rearrangement mediated by the non-canonical activation of the pathway. We discovered new regulatory elements and how the molecular landscape dynamically changes during the process, providing insight into the pathogenesis of neuropsychiatric disorders. Although LUHMES is a simple *in vitro* model of a single neuronal population without the physiological interaction with different cell types and neurotransmitters, it shows similar gene expression profile to the corresponding *in vivo* neuronal population, and it facilitates the study of every single neuron differentiation step during time course analyses. As *in vitro* model, it lacks the essential migration step, but *in vitro* assays exist to faithfully replicate and also assess this process (Azzarelli et al., 2017).

Neurons are traditionally difficult to transfect, including LUHMES cells. However, efficient electroporation and lipid-based transfection protocols have been developed to produce either stable mutants (by CRISPR/Cas9) (Shah et al., 2016; Calamini et al., 2021) or transient siRNA KDs (Paper II). Several ciliary signaling pathways are transduced and cross-talks in the developing brain, including WNT (Park et al., 2019). To accurately understand the role of WNT signaling during neuron differentiation, further investigation is required but it is possible to interfere with the pathway at many different levels using available small molecules (Tran and Zheng, 2017).

In conclusion, with different and complementary methods we showed how and when cilia and ciliary signaling are important to promote aspects of neuron differentiation. We propose a model where the differentiation of neuron precursor is initiated by the centrosome (polarization, axonogenesis) followed by an increased ciliation and ciliary signaling during the early time window of differentiation (migration, axon outgrowth, axon branching) to mediate and sustain the anatomical changes before dendrite generation and maturation and the establishment of functional synapses with a concomitant gradual loss of cilia. After a first connection between cilia and NDD candidate genes (Massinen et al., 2011; Chandrasekar et al., 2013), not surprisingly, several ciliary defects have been found to be implicated in the onset of brain disorders (Valente et al., 2014; Reiter and Leroux, 2017; Lauter et al., 2018). For an enhanced comprehension of their

39

pathogenesis, as a future perspective, it will be of great help to research cilia structure and function in more complete and complex systems like 3D brain organoids and patient-derived samples, and following the whole cilia biogenesis and dynamics through live cell imaging, with the possibility to selectively collect ciliated and non-ciliated cells to further elucidate the etiological mechanisms underlying cilia/centrosome-related disorders.

6 Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all who have contributed to the successful completion of this journey.

First, a very warm thank you to my main supervisor **Peter Swoboda**. Your guidance through every step of this experience was invaluable, I really appreciated how you constantly supported and pushed me to take the "driver's seat" for leading projects independently. I am very glad for the trust you placed in me and for your willingness to always listen and have constructive and honest conversations. You are a role model for me, and, under your supervision, I have grown a lot in both personal and professional ways.

A huge thank you to my co-supervisor **Juha Kere**. This journey would not have been possible without you. Your worldwide connections are not just the result of your great skills as scientist, but they are also due to your passion and human values that enlighten people around you. In relation to it, I can never be grateful enough to **David Schlessinger** who first gave me the opportunity to be introduced to the wonderful world of research, and then to continue my professional development together with Juha. You both truly are among the most inspiring people I know.

Many thanks to the previous and current group members of Peter Swoboda, Juha Kere, and all collaborators: **Gilbert, Debora, Xin Xuan, Haonan, Masahito, Tiina, Nina, Hong, Shintaro, Pelin, Kristiina, Michelle,** and **Akshara**. Your energy and positive attitude greatly helped making the journey smoother and fun, I could not ask for better colleagues to share this experience with.

Thankfully I had the opportunity to meet other great people scattered into neighbor labs. Thank you to **Giuseppe, Swastika, Marjan, Stefina, Alex, Shengyuan, Antonio, Marc, Anthony, Alessandra,** and **Marzieh**. Unfortunately, for different reasons, we could not spend all the years together but each of you left very pleasant memories having lunch together and in activities outside work I will always carry with me. A special mention to **Alan**. Our path crossed since the very first day and now, we can finally say it out loud, it will end in the same way. We faced and went through many similar problems supporting each other, thank you very much also for having been my gym buddy and keeping me motivated during workouts.

And now my little Italian community at KI. To **Mariangela**, words are not enough to express my gratitude. You have always been there to support me professionally and emotionally. We shared a lot in these years making me realize how rare it is to find someone kind and careful like you. Even when going through a rough patch in life, your positive attitude was admirable, and you really deserve the best. About **Lina**, I really appreciate how you can look at things from different perspectives and always in a constructive way, you made me reflect and even change idea on several things. Thanks to you I feel I have grown and become now much more open-minded than before, your constant encouragement and support have been invaluable.

Most of my projects required the expertise of great KI facilities. I would like to thank the **BEA** and **LCI** facilities for all the help provided and, in particular, a special thank you to **Sylvie** and **Gabi** for always actively listening to my technical problems and showing interest in trying to figure them out in the best possible way. I would also like to thank the **RIKEN** research center in Yokohama. I was warmly welcomed and hosted by **Yasuhiro Murakawa**, **Shruti**, and all the research group members. Besides having the possibility to learn innovative lab techniques, I had the chance to visit one of the most unique and inspiring countries I have ever been to.

A big thank you to the administration team of the department. Thanks to **Monica**, **Karin**, and **Eva** for your help and for handling the paperwork throughout all these years.

To my mentors **Antonino Forabosco** and **Massimo Burroni**. You were the very first persons to see my potential and to help me develop it. Thank you for making my dreams a reality, without your help I would not be exposed to some of the best experiences I have lived through. Your passion amazes me and inspires me to put in the work, I will always keep you updated with phone calls or, even better, going out for dinner altogether as usual.

I am sincerely thankful to Lanfranco, Benjamin, and Alessio for our friendship. You are the ones who first welcomed me in this new city and made me enjoy the social life outside work. We shared plenty of good times together and it is a gift having the possibility to connect with such special people, thanks so much for always being around.

To my family, **Elisabetta**, **Paolo**, and **Giulia**. I feel immense gratitude for having a family that is incredibly supportive and loving. While I understand that you would have preferred me to stay close to home, living abroad was one of the most rewarding experiences that I have ever had. None of this would be possible without a family like you, thank you all for trusting me to do this and for always being there when I need you. **Alessia**, thank you very much for taking care of my sister. Although it is not always easy to follow such an "artistic soul", you are awesome, and your cool attitude really makes a difference.

Finally, a heartfelt thank you to the person that simply makes my life more complete and better every day, my love **Natalia**. I cannot express how much your love means to me, especially during both good and tough times of this last year. Thank you for your patience, understanding, and all the little things you do for me. I appreciate how you always support me, having you by my side has made challenges easier to bear. I really cannot wait to begin our new life chapter together in Germany and to spend many more years ahead with you, traveling to all the places we are dreaming of. A warm thank you to your family too for being so kind and sweet, making me feel like part of it since the very first time we met.

7 References

- Anvarian, Z., Mykytyn, K., Mukhopadhyay, S., Pedersen, L. B., & Christensen, S. T. (2019). Cellular signalling by primary cilia in development, organ function and disease. *Nature Reviews*. *Nephrology*, 15(4), 199–219. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41581-019-0116-9
- Arellano, J. I., Guadiana, S. M., Breunig, J. J., Rakic, P., & Sarkisian, M. R. (2012). Development and distribution of neuronal cilia in mouse neocortex. *The Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 520(4), 848–873. https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.22793
- Arredondo, S. B., Valenzuela-Bezanilla, D., Mardones, M. D., & Varela-Nallar, L. (2020). Role of Wnt Signaling in Adult Hippocampal Neurogenesis in Health and Disease. *Frontiers in Cell* and Developmental Biology, 8, 860. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00860
- Azzarelli, R., Oleari, R., Lettieri, A., Andre', V., & Cariboni, A. (2017). In Vitro, Ex Vivo and In Vivo Techniques to Study Neuronal Migration in the Developing Cerebral Cortex. *Brain Sciences*, 7(12), 48. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci7050048
- Baas, P. W., Rao, A. N., Matamoros, A. J., & Leo, L. (2016). Stability properties of neuronal microtubules. Cytoskeleton (Hoboken, N.J.), 73(9), 442–460. https://doi.org/10.1002/cm.21286
- Bae, Y.-K., & Barr, M. M. (2008). Sensory roles of neuronal cilia: Cilia development, morphogenesis, and function in C. elegans. *Frontiers in Bioscience: A Journal and Virtual Library*, 13, 5959–5974. https://doi.org/10.2741/3129
- Beliakov, S. V., Blokhin, V., Surkov, S. A., & Ugrumov, M. V. (2023). LUHMES Cells: Phenotype Refinement and Development of an MPP+-Based Test System for Screening Antiparkinsonian Drugs. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 24(1), 733. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24010733
- Bengoa-Vergniory, N., Gorroño-Etxebarria, I., González-Salazar, I., & Kypta, R. M. (2014). A Switch From Canonical to Noncanonical Wnt Signaling Mediates Early Differentiation of Human Neural Stem Cells. Stem Cells, 32(12), 3196–3208. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.1807
- Bernatik, O., Paclikova, P., Kotrbova, A., Bryja, V., & Cajanek, L. (2021). Primary Cilia Formation Does Not Rely on WNT/β-Catenin Signaling. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9, 623753. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.623753
- Bieder, A., Yoshihara, M., Katayama, S., Krjutškov, K., Falk, A., Kere, J., & Tapia-Páez, I. (2020). Dyslexia Candidate Gene and Ciliary Gene Expression Dynamics During Human Neuronal Differentiation. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 57(7), 2944–2958. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-020-01905-6

- Bisgrove, B. W., Makova, S., Yost, H. J., & Brueckner, M. (2012). RFX2 is essential in the ciliated organ of asymmetry and an RFX2 transgene identifies a population of ciliated cells sufficient for fluid flow. *Developmental Biology*, 363(1), 166–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.12.030
- Calamini, B., Geyer, N., Huss-Braun, N., Bernhardt, A., Harsany, V., Rival, P., Cindhuchao, M., Hoffmann, D., & Gratzer, S. (2021). Development of a physiologically relevant and easily scalable LUHMES cell-based model of G2019S LRRK2-driven Parkinson's disease. *Disease Models & Mechanisms*, 14(6), dmm048017. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.048017
- Carballo, G. B., Honorato, J. R., de Lopes, G. P. F., & Spohr, T. C. L. de S. E. (2018). A highlight on Sonic hedgehog pathway. *Cell Communication and Signaling: CCS*, *16*(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12964-018-0220-7
- Carullo, N. V. N., & Day, J. J. (2019). Genomic Enhancers in Brain Health and Disease. *Genes*, *10*(1), 43. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10010043
- Chandrasekar, G., Vesterlund, L., Hultenby, K., Tapia-Páez, I., & Kere, J. (2013). The zebrafish orthologue of the dyslexia candidate gene DYX1C1 is essential for cilia growth and function. *PloS One*, *8*(5), e63123. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063123
- Chia, P. H., Zhong, F. L., Niwa, S., Bonnard, C., Utami, K. H., Zeng, R., Lee, H., Eskin, A., Nelson, S. F., Xie, W. H., Al-Tawalbeh, S., El-Khateeb, M., Shboul, M., Pouladi, M. A., Al-Raqad, M., & Reversade, B. (2018). A homozygous loss-of-function CAMK2A mutation causes growth delay, frequent seizures and severe intellectual disability. *eLife*, 7, e32451. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.32451
- Choksi, S. P., Lauter, G., Swoboda, P., & Roy, S. (2014). Switching on cilia: Transcriptional networks regulating ciliogenesis. *Development*, 141(7), 1427–1441. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.074666
- Chung, M.-I., Peyrot, S. M., LeBoeuf, S., Park, T. J., McGary, K. L., Marcotte, E. M., & Wallingford, J. B. (2012). RFX2 is broadly required for ciliogenesis during vertebrate development. *Developmental Biology*, 363(1), 155–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.12.029
- Colozza, G., & Koo, B.-K. (2021). Wnt/β-catenin signaling: Structure, assembly and endocytosis of the signalosome. *Development, Growth & Differentiation*, 63(3), 199–218. https://doi.org/10.1111/dgd.12718
- Coschiera, A., Watts, M. E., Kere, J., Tammimies, K., & Swoboda, P. (2023). Human LUHMES and NES cells as models for studying primary cilia in neurons. In Methods in Cell Biology (Vol. 176, pp. 27–41). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mcb.2022.12.012
- Creighton, B. A., Afriyie, S., Ajit, D., Casingal, C. R., Voos, K. M., Reger, J., Burch, A. M., Dyne, E., Bay, J., Huang, J. K., Anton, E. S., Fu, M.-M., & Lorenzo, D. N. (2021). Giant ankyrin-B mediates

transduction of axon guidance and collateral branch pruning factor sema 3A. *eLife*, 10, e69815. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.69815

- Davis, E. K., Zou, Y., & Ghosh, A. (2008). Whits acting through canonical and noncanonical signaling pathways exert opposite effects on hippocampal synapse formation. *Neural Development*, 3, 32. https://doi.org/10.1186/1749-8104-3-32
- Delprato, A., Xiao, E., & Manoj, D. (2022). Connecting DCX, COMT and FMR1 in social behavior and cognitive impairment. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, *18*(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-022-00191-7
- Falk, A., Koch, P., Kesavan, J., Takashima, Y., Ladewig, J., Alexander, M., Wiskow, O., Tailor, J., Trotter, M., Pollard, S., Smith, A., & Brüstle, O. (2012). Capture of neuroepithelial-like stem cells from pluripotent stem cells provides a versatile system for in vitro production of human neurons. *PloS One*, 7(1), e29597. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029597
- Fountaine, T. M., Venda, L. L., Warrick, N., Christian, H. C., Brundin, P., Channon, K. M., & Wade-Martins, R. (2008). The effect of alpha-synuclein knockdown on MPP+ toxicity in models of human neurons. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 28(12), 2459–2473. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2008.06527.x
- Guadiana, S. M., Semple-Rowland, S., Daroszewski, D., Madorsky, I., Breunig, J. J., Mykytyn, K., & Sarkisian, M. R. (2013). Arborization of dendrites by developing neocortical neurons is dependent on primary cilia and type 3 adenylyl cyclase. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 33(6), 2626–2638. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2906-12.2013
- Guo, J., Otis, J. M., Suciu, S. K., Catalano, C., Xing, L., Constable, S., Wachten, D., Gupton, S., Lee, J., Lee, A., Blackley, K. H., Ptacek, T., Simon, J. M., Schurmans, S., Stuber, G. D., Caspary, T., & Anton, E. S. (2019). Primary Cilia Signaling Promotes Axonal Tract Development and Is Disrupted in Joubert Syndrome-Related Disorders Models. *Developmental Cell*, *51*(6), 759–774.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2019.11.005
- Hirabayashi, S., Bhagat, S., Matsuki, Y., Takegami, Y., Uehata, T., Kanemaru, A., Itoh, M., Shirakawa, K., Takaori-Kondo, A., Takeuchi, O., Carninci, P., Katayama, S., Hayashizaki, Y., Kere, J., Kawaji, H., & Murakawa, Y. (2019). NET-CAGE characterizes the dynamics and topology of human transcribed cis-regulatory elements. *Nature Genetics*, *51*(9), 1369–1379. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41588-019-0485-9
- Hoshimaru, M., Ray, J., Sah, D. W., & Gage, F. H. (1996). Differentiation of the immortalized adult neuronal progenitor cell line HC2S2 into neurons by regulatable suppression of the v-myc oncogene. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(4), 1518–1523. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.93.4.1518

- Inestrosa, N. C., & Varela-Nallar, L. (2015). Wnt signalling in neuronal differentiation and development. *Cell and Tissue Research*, *359*(1), 215–223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-014-1996-4
- Islam, S., Kjällquist, U., Moliner, A., Zajac, P., Fan, J.-B., Lönnerberg, P., & Linnarsson, S. (2011). Characterization of the single-cell transcriptional landscape by highly multiplex RNA-seq. *Genome Research*, 21(7), 1160–1167. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.110882.110
- Jana, S. C., Bettencourt-Dias, M., Durand, B., & Megraw, T. L. (2016). Drosophila melanogaster as a model for basal body research. *Cilia*, *5*, 22. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13630-016-0041-5
- Karalis, V., Donovan, K. E., & Sahin, M. (2022). Primary Cilia Dysfunction in Neurodevelopmental Disorders beyond Ciliopathies. *Journal of Developmental Biology*, 10(4), 54. https://doi.org/10.3390/jdb10040054
- Kawaji, H., Lizio, M., Itoh, M., Kanamori-Katayama, M., Kaiho, A., Nishiyori-Sueki, H., Shin, J. W., Kojima-Ishiyama, M., Kawano, M., Murata, M., Ninomiya-Fukuda, N., Ishikawa-Kato, S., Nagao-Sato, S., Noma, S., Hayashizaki, Y., Forrest, A. R. R., Carninci, P., & FANTOM Consortium. (2014). Comparison of CAGE and RNA-seq transcriptome profiling using clonally amplified and single-molecule next-generation sequencing. *Genome Research*, 24(4), 708–717. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.156232.113
- Kere, J. (2011). Molecular genetics and molecular biology of dyslexia. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Cognitive Science*, 2(4), 441–448. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.138
- Kere, J. (2014). The molecular genetics and neurobiology of developmental dyslexia as model of a complex phenotype. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 452(2), 236–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.102
- Ki, S. M., Jeong, H. S., & Lee, J. E. (2021). Primary Cilia in Glial Cells: An Oasis in the Journey to Overcoming Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 15, 736888. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.736888
- Kumamoto, N., Gu, Y., Wang, J., Janoschka, S., Takemaru, K.-I., Levine, J., & Ge, S. (2012). A role for primary cilia in glutamatergic synaptic integration of adult-born neurons. *Nature Neuroscience*, 15(3), 399–405, S1. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3042
- La Manno, G., Gyllborg, D., Codeluppi, S., Nishimura, K., Salto, C., Zeisel, A., Borm, L. E., Stott, S. R. W., Toledo, E. M., Villaescusa, J. C., Lönnerberg, P., Ryge, J., Barker, R. A., Arenas, E., & Linnarsson, S. (2016). Molecular Diversity of Midbrain Development in Mouse, Human, and Stem Cells. *Cell*, 167(2), 566–580.e19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.027
- Lai, Y., & Jiang, Y. (2020). Reciprocal Regulation between Primary Cilia and mTORC1. *Genes*, *11*(6), 711. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11060711

- Lasser, M., Tiber, J., & Lowery, L. A. (2018). The Role of the Microtubule Cytoskeleton in Neurodevelopmental Disorders. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12, 165. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00165
- Lauter, G., Swoboda, P., & Tapia-Páez, I. (2018). Cilia in Brain Development and Disease. In: Cilia: Development and Disease. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Publ, Boca Raton, Florida, USA. 2018; ch. 1:pp. 1-35. ISBN: 9781498703680
- Lee, K. H. (2020). Involvement of Wnt signaling in primary cilia assembly and disassembly. *The FEBS Journal*, *287*(23), 5027–5038. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15579
- Lemeille, S., Paschaki, M., Baas, D., Morlé, L., Duteyrat, J.-L., Ait-Lounis, A., Barras, E., Soulavie, F., Jerber, J., Thomas, J., Zhang, Y., Holtzman, M. J., Kistler, W. S., Reith, W., & Durand, B. (2020). Interplay of RFX transcription factors 1, 2 and 3 in motile ciliogenesis. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 48(16), 9019–9036. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa625
- Lepanto, P., Badano, J. L., & Zolessi, F. R. (2016). Neuron's little helper: The role of primary cilia in neurogenesis. *Neurogenesis (Austin, Tex.), 3*(1), e1253363. https://doi.org/10.1080/23262133.2016.1253363
- Lieberman-Aiden, E., van Berkum, N. L., Williams, L., Imakaev, M., Ragoczy, T., Telling, A., Amit, I., Lajoie, B. R., Sabo, P. J., Dorschner, M. O., Sandstrom, R., Bernstein, B., Bender, M. A., Groudine, M., Gnirke, A., Stamatoyannopoulos, J., Mirny, L. A., Lander, E. S., & Dekker, J. (2009). Comprehensive mapping of long-range interactions reveals folding principles of the human genome. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 326(5950), 289–293. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1181369
- Liu, S., Trupiano, M. X., Simon, J., Guo, J., & Anton, E. S. (2021). The essential role of primary cilia in cerebral cortical development and disorders. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology*, *142*, 99–146. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ctdb.2020.11.003
- Lotharius, J., Barg, S., Wiekop, P., Lundberg, C., Raymon, H. K., & Brundin, P. (2002). Effect of mutant alpha-synuclein on dopamine homeostasis in a new human mesencephalic cell line. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(41), 38884–38894. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M205518200
- Lotharius, J., Falsig, J., van Beek, J., Payne, S., Dringen, R., Brundin, P., & Leist, M. (2005). Progressive degeneration of human mesencephalic neuron-derived cells triggered by dopamine-dependent oxidative stress is dependent on the mixed-lineage kinase pathway. The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 25(27), 6329–6342. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1746-05.2005
- Massinen, S., Hokkanen, M.-E., Matsson, H., Tammimies, K., Tapia-Páez, I., Dahlström-Heuser, V., Kuja-Panula, J., Burghoorn, J., Jeppsson, K. E., Swoboda, P., Peyrard-Janvid, M., Toftgård, R., Castrén, E., & Kere, J. (2011). Increased expression of the dyslexia candidate gene DCDC2

affects length and signaling of primary cilia in neurons. *PloS One*, *6*(6), e20580. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0020580

- Matsumoto, M., Sawada, M., García-González, D., Herranz-Pérez, V., Ogino, T., Bang Nguyen, H., Quynh Thai, T., Narita, K., Kumamoto, N., Ugawa, S., Saito, Y., Takeda, S., Kaneko, N., Khodosevich, K., Monyer, H., García-Verdugo, J. M., Ohno, N., & Sawamoto, K. (2019). Dynamic Changes in Ultrastructure of the Primary Cilium in Migrating Neuroblasts in the Postnatal Brain. *The Journal of Neuroscience: The Official Journal of the Society for Neuroscience*, 39(50), 9967–9988. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1503–19.2019
- May-Simera, H. L., & Kelley, M. W. (2012). Cilia, Wnt signaling, and the cytoskeleton. *Cilia*, 1(1), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-2530-1-7
- Meka, D. P., Kobler, O., Hong, S., Friedrich, C. M., Wuesthoff, S., Henis, M., Schwanke, B., Krisp, C., Schmuelling, N., Rueter, R., Ruecker, T., Betleja, E., Cheng, T., Mahjoub, M. R., Soba, P., Schlüter, H., Fornasiero, E. F., & Calderon de Anda, F. (2022). Centrosome-dependent microtubule modifications set the conditions for axon formation. *Cell Reports*, *39*(3), 110686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2022.110686
- Meka, D. P., Scharrenberg, R., & Calderon de Anda, F. (2020). Emerging roles of the centrosome in neuronal development. *Cytoskeleton (Hoboken, N.J.)*, 77(3–4), 84–96. https://doi.org/10.1002/cm.21593
- Miki, D., Kobayashi, Y., Okada, T., Miyamoto, T., Takei, N., Sekino, Y., Koganezawa, N., Shirao, T., & Saito, Y. (2019). Characterization of Functional Primary Cilia in Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Neurons. *Neurochemical Research*, 44(7), 1736–1744. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11064-019-02806-4
- Mitchison, H. M., & Valente, E. M. (2017). Motile and non-motile cilia in human pathology: From function to phenotypes. *The Journal of Pathology*, 241(2), 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1002/path.4843
- Mittanck, D. W., Kim, S. W., & Rotwein, P. (1997). Essential promoter elements are located within the 5' untranslated region of human insulin-like growth factor-I exon I. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 126(2), 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0303-7207(96)03979-2
- Motono, M., Ioroi, Y., Ogura, T., & Takahashi, J. (2016). WNT-C59, a Small-Molecule WNT Inhibitor, Efficiently Induces Anterior Cortex That Includes Cortical Motor Neurons From Human Pluripotent Stem Cells. Stem Cells Translational Medicine, 5(4), 552–560. https://doi.org/10.5966/sctm.2015-0261
- Mukhopadhyay, S., Badgandi, H. B., Hwang, S.-H., Somatilaka, B., Shimada, I. S., & Pal, K. (2017). Trafficking to the primary cilium membrane. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 28(2), 233–239. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E16-07-0505

- Murakawa, Y., Yoshihara, M., Kawaji, H., Nishikawa, M., Zayed, H., Suzuki, H., Fantom Consortium, null, & Hayashizaki, Y. (2016). Enhanced Identification of Transcriptional Enhancers Provides Mechanistic Insights into Diseases. *Trends in Genetics: TIG, 32*(2), 76–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2015.11.004
- Panigrahi, A., & O'Malley, B. W. (2021). Mechanisms of enhancer action: The known and the unknown. *Genome Biology*, 22(1), 108. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-021-02322-1
- Paridaen, J. T. M. L., Wilsch-Bräuninger, M., & Huttner, W. B. (2013). Asymmetric inheritance of centrosome-associated primary cilium membrane directs ciliogenesis after cell division. *Cell*, 155(2), 333–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.08.060
- Park, S. M., Jang, H. J., & Lee, J. H. (2019). Roles of Primary Cilia in the Developing Brain. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *13*, 218. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00218
- Perenthaler, E., Yousefi, S., Niggl, E., & Barakat, T. S. (2019). Beyond the Exome: The Non-coding Genome and Enhancers in Neurodevelopmental Disorders and Malformations of Cortical Development. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 13, 352. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2019.00352
- Pitaval, A., Tseng, Q., Bornens, M., & Théry, M. (2010). Cell shape and contractility regulate ciliogenesis in cell cycle-arrested cells. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 191(2), 303–312. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201004003
- Plotnikova, O. V., Pugacheva, E. N., & Golemis, E. A. (2009). Primary Cilia and the Cell Cycle. In Methods in Cell Biology (Vol. 94, pp. 137–160). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0091-679X(08)94007-3
- Postel, M., Karam, A., Pézeron, G., Schneider-Maunoury, S., & Clément, F. (2019). A multiscale mathematical model of cell dynamics during neurogenesis in the mouse cerebral cortex. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 20(1), 470. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12859-019-3018-8
- Prahl, J. D., Pierce, S. E., van der Schans, E. J. C., Coetzee, G. A., & Tyson, T. (2023). The Parkinson's disease variant rs356182 regulates neuronal differentiation independently from alpha-synuclein. *Human Molecular Genetics*, *32*(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddac161
- Putta, P., & Mitra, C. K. (2010). Conserved short sequences in promoter regions of human genome. Journal of Biomolecular Structure & Dynamics, 27(5), 599–610. https://doi.org/10.1080/07391102.2010.10508574
- Qin, K., Yu, M., Fan, J., Wang, H., Zhao, P., Zhao, G., Zeng, W., Chen, C., Wang, Y., Wang, A., Schwartz, Z., Hong, J., Song, L., Wagstaff, W., Haydon, R. C., Luu, H. H., Ho, S. H., Strelzow, J., Reid, R. R., ... Shi, L. L. (2023). Canonical and noncanonical Wnt signaling: Multilayered mediators, signaling mechanisms and major signaling crosstalk. *Genes & Diseases*, *11*(1), 103–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2023.01.030

- Reiter, J. F., & Leroux, M. R. (2017). Genes and molecular pathways underpinning ciliopathies. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology*, 18(9), 533–547. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm.2017.60
- Saggese, T., Young, A. A., Huang, C., Braeckmans, K., & McGlashan, S. R. (2012). Development of a method for the measurement of primary cilia length in 3D. *Cilia*, 1(1), 11. https://doi.org/10.1186/2046-2530-1-11
- Sahlén, P., Abdullayev, I., Ramsköld, D., Matskova, L., Rilakovic, N., Lötstedt, B., Albert, T. J., Lundeberg, J., & Sandberg, R. (2015). Genome-wide mapping of promoter-anchored interactions with close to single-enhancer resolution. *Genome Biology*, 16(1), 156. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0727-9
- Sartorelli, V., & Lauberth, S. M. (2020). Enhancer RNAs are an important regulatory layer of the epigenome. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 27(6), 521–528. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41594-020-0446-0
- Schildknecht, S., Pöltl, D., Nagel, D. M., Matt, F., Scholz, D., Lotharius, J., Schmieg, N., Salvo-Vargas, A., & Leist, M. (2009). Requirement of a dopaminergic neuronal phenotype for toxicity of low concentrations of 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium to human cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, 241(1), 23–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2009.07.027
- Schmidt, S., Luecken, M. D., Trümbach, D., Hembach, S., Niedermeier, K. M., Wenck, N., Pflügler, K.,
 Stautner, C., Böttcher, A., Lickert, H., Ramirez–Suastegui, C., Ahmad, R., Ziller, M. J., Fitzgerald,
 J. C., Ruf, V., van de Berg, W. D. J., Jonker, A. J., Gasser, T., Winner, B., ... Wurst, W. (2022).
 Primary cilia and SHH signaling impairments in human and mouse models of Parkinson's disease. *Nature Communications*, *13*(1), 4819. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-32229-9
- Scholz, D., Pöltl, D., Genewsky, A., Weng, M., Waldmann, T., Schildknecht, S., & Leist, M. (2011). Rapid, complete and large-scale generation of post-mitotic neurons from the human LUHMES cell line. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 119(5), 957–971. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07255.x
- Shah, R. R., Cholewa-Waclaw, J., Davies, F. C. J., Paton, K. M., Chaligne, R., Heard, E., Abbott, C. M., & Bird, A. P. (2016). Efficient and versatile CRISPR engineering of human neurons in culture to model neurological disorders. *Wellcome Open Research*, *1*, 13. https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.10011.1
- Sharifi-Zarchi, A., Gerovska, D., Adachi, K., Totonchi, M., Pezeshk, H., Taft, R. J., Schöler, H. R., Chitsaz, H., Sadeghi, M., Baharvand, H., & Araúzo-Bravo, M. J. (2017). DNA methylation regulates discrimination of enhancers from promoters through a H3K4me1-H3K4me3 seesaw mechanism. *BMC Genomics*, *18*(1), 964. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-017-4353-7

- Shaw, P. J. (2006). Comparison of Widefield/Deconvolution and Confocal Microscopy for Three-Dimensional Imaging. In J. B. Pawley (Ed.), Handbook Of Biological Confocal Microscopy (pp. 453–467). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978–0-387–45524–2_23
- Sheu, S.-H., Upadhyayula, S., Dupuy, V., Pang, S., Deng, F., Wan, J., Walpita, D., Pasolli, H. A., Houser, J., Sanchez-Martinez, S., Brauchi, S. E., Banala, S., Freeman, M., Xu, C. S., Kirchhausen, T., Hess, H. F., Lavis, L., Li, Y., Chaumont-Dubel, S., & Clapham, D. E. (2022). A serotonergic axon-cilium synapse drives nuclear signaling to alter chromatin accessibility. *Cell*, *185*(18), 3390–3407.e18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2022.07.026
- Signor, S. A., & Nuzhdin, S. V. (2018). The Evolution of Gene Expression in cis and trans. *Trends in Genetics: TIG*, 34(7), 532–544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2018.03.007
- Smirnova, L., Harris, G., Delp, J., Valadares, M., Pamies, D., Hogberg, H. T., Waldmann, T., Leist, M., & Hartung, T. (2016). A LUHMES 3D dopaminergic neuronal model for neurotoxicity testing allowing long-term exposure and cellular resilience analysis. *Archives of Toxicology*, 90(11), 2725–2743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-015-1637-z
- Snedeker, J., Schock, E. N., Struve, J. N., Chang, C.-F., Cionni, M., Tran, P. V., Brugmann, S. A., & Stottmann, R. W. (2017). Unique spatiotemporal requirements for intraflagellar transport genes during forebrain development. *PloS One*, *12*(3), e0173258. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0173258
- Stanganello, E., Zahavi, E. E., Burute, M., Smits, J., Jordens, I., Maurice, M. M., Kapitein, L. C., & Hoogenraad, C. C. (2019). Wnt Signaling Directs Neuronal Polarity and Axonal Growth. *iScience*, 13, 318–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2019.02.029
- Stoufflet, J., & Caillé, I. (2022). The Primary Cilium and Neuronal Migration. *Cells*, 11(21), 3384. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells11213384
- Stoufflet, J., Chaulet, M., Doulazmi, M., Fouquet, C., Dubacq, C., Métin, C., Schneider-Maunoury, S., Trembleau, A., Vincent, P., & Caillé, I. (2020). Primary cilium-dependent cAMP/PKA signaling at the centrosome regulates neuronal migration. *Science Advances*, 6(36), eaba3992. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aba3992
- Sugiaman-Trapman, D., Vitezic, M., Jouhilahti, E.-M., Mathelier, A., Lauter, G., Misra, S., Daub, C. O., Kere, J., & Swoboda, P. (2018). Characterization of the human RFX transcription factor family by regulatory and target gene analysis. *BMC Genomics*, 19(1), 181. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-018-4564-6
- Tammimies, K., Bieder, A., Lauter, G., Sugiaman-Trapman, D., Torchet, R., Hokkanen, M.-E., Burghoorn, J., Castrén, E., Kere, J., Tapia-Páez, I., & Swoboda, P. (2016). Ciliary dyslexia candidate genes DYX1C1 and DCDC2 are regulated by Regulatory Factor X (RFX) transcription factors through X-box promoter motifs. *FASEB Journal: Official Publication*

of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 30(10), 3578–3587. https://doi.org/10.1096/fj.201500124RR

- Tereshko, L., Gao, Y., Cary, B. A., Turrigiano, G. G., & Sengupta, P. (2021). Ciliary neuropeptidergic signaling dynamically regulates excitatory synapses in postnatal neocortical pyramidal neurons. *eLife*, 10, e65427. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.65427
- Thomas, S., Boutaud, L., Reilly, M. L., & Benmerah, A. (2019). Cilia in hereditary cerebral anomalies. Biology of the Cell, 111(9), 217–231. https://doi.org/10.1111/boc.201900012
- Tran, F. H., & Zheng, J. J. (2017). Modulating the wnt signaling pathway with small molecules. *Protein Science*, 26(4), 650–661. https://doi.org/10.1002/pro.3122
- Valente, E. M., Rosti, R. O., Gibbs, E., & Gleeson, J. G. (2014). Primary cilia in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 10(1), 27–36. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2013.247
- van Amerongen, R. (2012). Alternative Wnt pathways and receptors. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(10), a007914. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a007914
- Wang, W., Jack, B. M., Wang, H. H., Kavanaugh, M. A., Maser, R. L., & Tran, P. V. (2021). Intraflagellar Transport Proteins as Regulators of Primary Cilia Length. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9, 661350. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.661350
- Weltner, J., Balboa, D., Katayama, S., Bespalov, M., Krjutškov, K., Jouhilahti, E.-M., Trokovic, R., Kere, J., & Otonkoski, T. (2018). Human pluripotent reprogramming with CRISPR activators. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 2643. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05067-x
- Wheway, G., Nazlamova, L., & Hancock, J. T. (2018). Signaling through the Primary Cilium. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 6, 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2018.00008
- Willert, K., & Nusse, R. (2012). Wnt proteins. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(9), a007864. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a007864
- Wilson, S. L., Wilson, J. P., Wang, C., Wang, B., & McConnell, S. K. (2012). Primary cilia and Gli3 activity regulate cerebral cortical size. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 72(9), 1196–1212. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20985
- Wu, W., Hill, S. E., Nathan, W. J., Paiano, J., Callen, E., Wang, D., Shinoda, K., van Wietmarschen, N., Colón-Mercado, J. M., Zong, D., De Pace, R., Shih, H.-Y., Coon, S., Parsadanian, M., Pavani, R., Hanzlikova, H., Park, S., Jung, S. K., McHugh, P. J., ... Nussenzweig, A. (2021). Neuronal enhancers are hotspots for DNA single-strand break repair. *Nature*, *593*(7859), 440–444. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03468-5
- Wu, Y., Hu, X., Li, Z., Wang, M., Li, S., Wang, X., Lin, X., Liao, S., Zhang, Z., Feng, X., Wang, S., Cui, X., Wang, Y., Gao, F., Hess, R. A., & Han, C. (2016). Transcription Factor RFX2 Is a Key Regulator of Mouse Spermiogenesis. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 20435. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep20435
- Yamakawa, K. (2016). Mutations of Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Genes SCN1A and SCN2A in Epilepsy, Intellectual Disability, and Autism. In Neuronal and Synaptic Dysfunction in Autism Spectrum Disorder and Intellectual Disability (pp. 233–251). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800109-7.00015-7
- Yang, R., Walder-Christensen, K. K., Kim, N., Wu, D., Lorenzo, D. N., Badea, A., Jiang, Y.-H., Yin, H. H., Wetsel, W. C., & Bennett, V. (2019). ANK2 autism mutation targeting giant ankyrin-B promotes axon branching and ectopic connectivity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 116(30), 15262–15271. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1904348116
- Zhang, F., & Lupski, J. R. (2015). Non-coding genetic variants in human disease. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 24(R1), R102-110. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv259
- Zhao, B., Meka, D. P., Scharrenberg, R., König, T., Schwanke, B., Kobler, O., Windhorst, S., Kreutz, M. R., Mikhaylova, M., & Calderon de Anda, F. (2017). Microtubules Modulate F-actin Dynamics during Neuronal Polarization. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 9583. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-09832-8